



School of Economics and Management

Olivier Walschots

A thesis submitted to Tilburg University in fulfilment of the degree of the Master of Science in Supply Chain Management

2024 | 2025

Supervisor: dr. Han Kyul Oh Second reader: Seyyed Iman Moosavi Word count: 13,833

SNR: 2127305

ANR: 534098

Tilburg, 9th January 2025



Abstract

Purpose – This master's thesis examines the mechanisms that can strengthen trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information, aiming to enhance information sharing in Short Food Supply Chains (SFSCs), to enhance supply chain collaboration and overcome logistical inefficiencies.

Design/methodology/approach – Utilising a qualitative multi-case study approach, this research engages with various stakeholders in SFSCs, including local suppliers, SFSC initiatives, and a government agency, to explore the nuances of information sharing practices. The methodology incorporates semi-structured interviews and thematic analysis, supported by a two-step triangulation process with the use of ATLAS.ti software for validation.

Findings – Trust, capabilities, and willingness to share information among local suppliers in SFSCs can be enhanced through strategies that emphasise mutual benefits, reciprocity, and transparency. Training and valuable information boost supplier capabilities and confidence, fostering trust and willingness. Such empowerment addresses fears of being replaceable and bolsters the competitive advantage of local suppliers relative to traditional food suppliers. Demonstrating transparency, such as sharing forecasts, builds mutual trust and cooperation. Highlighting the benefits of shared data empowers suppliers to make informed decisions, while aligning SFSC goals with supplier interests creates a collaborative environment. Addressing information asymmetry through dialogue further clarifies expectations, enabling effective information sharing. Together, these strategies create a feedback loop where trust, capabilities, and willingness are mutually reinforced, fostering a sustainable culture of information sharing within SFSCs.

Originality/value – This master's thesis addresses a gap in the literature by focusing on the overlooked dynamics of information sharing in SFSCs and by examining the boundary conditions of the contextual factors that influence information sharing. This thesis makes another original contribution to the academic literature by linking SFSC literature with three established theories: Resource-Based View, Social Exchange Theory, and Actor-Network Theory. This integration forms the primary objective of generalising the findings of this thesis, establishing a novel theoretical framework for analysing SFSC dynamics. Lastly, it extends this innovation by applying these theories within a new context, specifically of SFSCs.

Keywords – Short Food Supply Chain, information sharing, trust, capabilities, willingness to share information, Supply Chain Management, qualitative multi-case study



Preface

This thesis, representing five months of intensive research and effort, is the final requirement for my master's program in Supply Chain Management at Tilburg University, following the premaster and all associated coursework. My academic journey originated at Avans University of Applied Sciences in Tilburg, where I pursued a degree in Industrial Engineering and Management and developed a passion for the increasingly important dynamics of supply chains. This interest motivated me to further my studies in the field, inspiring me to attain this master's degree.

My sincere gratitude goes to my academic supervisor, Dr. Han Kyul Oh, for his guidance and support throughout this research process. Additionally, my thanks are extended to my supervisors at LCB, Marlou Claes and Peter Kole, for their insightful feedback and direction. I am also grateful to my colleagues at LCB for their input, encouragement, and suggestions.

Lastly, my heartfelt appreciation is extended to my family and friends for their support and encouragement throughout this research journey.

Olivier Walschots



List of abbreviations

Table 1: List of abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
ANT	Actor-Network Theory
B2B	Business to business
B2C	Business to consumer
CPFR	Collaborative Planning, Forecasting, and Replenishment
DAC	Data Analytical Capabilities
ІоТ	Internet of Things
LCB	Logistics Community Brabant
NLL	Next Level Logistics
RBV	Resource-Based View
SCM	Supply Chain Management
SET	Social Exchange Theory
SFSC	Short Food Supply Chain



List of tables

Table 1: List of abbreviations	3
Table 2: Comparison of SFSCs and FSCs by focal components. Source: Thomé et al. (2020).	14
Table 3: Interview data	26
Table 4: Coding scheme	28
Table 5: Measures reliability and validity	29
Table 6: Co-occurrence analysis ATLAS.ti of all themes	31
Table 7: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Willingness to Share information	32
Table 8: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Trust	34
Table 9: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Capabilities	38
Table 10: Information categories	61
Table 11: Interviewee distribution	63
Table 12: Coding scheme	64
Table 13: Co-occurrence analysis ATLAS.ti of all themes	75
Table 14: Co-occurrence analysis ATLAS.ti of the sentiments all themes	75
Table 15: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Willingness to Share information	76
Table 16: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Trust	76
Table 17: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Capabilities	77
Table 18: Theoretical contribution analysis	78
Table 19: Key differences between current SC methods and CPFR (in the case from Veelenturf et al.	,
2001). Source: (Veelenturf et al., 2001)	79



List of figures

Figure 1: Gaps in SFSC literature. Source: Author.	11
Figure 2: Conceptual model. Source: Author	. 12
Figure 3: Network design SFSC. Source: Author	. 15
Figure 4: Positive feedback loop information sharing and trust. Source: Author, derived from Cheng	g et
al. (2008), Cai et al. (2012), Pooe et al. (2015), Badraoui et al. (2019), Badraoui et al. (2023)	. 17
Figure 5: CPFR process steps. Source: (Veelenturf et al., 2001)	. 80



Table of contents

Abstract		. 1
Preface		. 2
List of abl	previations	. 3
List of tab	les	. 4
List of fig	ures	. 5
Table of c	ontents	. 6
Chapter 1	: Introduction	. 8
1.1	Research background	. 8
1.2	Problem indication	. 9
Infor	mation sharing in Short Food Supply Chains	. 9
1.3	Theoretical contributions	10
1.4	Managerial implications	10
Chapter 2	: Literature review	13
2.1	Traditional Food Supply Chains	13
2.2	Short Food Supply Chains	13
Com	parison of FSCs and SFSCs	14
2.3	SFSC initiatives	14
2.4	Information sharing	16
2.5	Willingness to share information	18
2.6	Trust	19
2.7	Capabilities	20
Data	Analytical Capabilities	21
Mana	agement and marketing competencies	22
2.8	Conclusion	23
Chapter 3	: Methodology	24
3.1	Nature of research and research strategy	24
3.2	Data collection	25
Samp	bling strategy	25
Data	collection method and processes	25
3.3	Data analysis	27
3.4	Reliability and validity	28
Chapter 4	: Findings and results	30
4.1	Information sharing	30
4.2	Willingness to share information	31



R	eciprocity
4.3	Trust
Tı	ansparency
С	ommunication
Pı	icing
4.4	Capabilities
D	ata Analytical Capabilities
Μ	anagement competencies
Μ	arketing competencies
R	esource heterogeneity
Μ	aturity
4.5 I	Results
Chapte	r 5: Discussion
5.1	Conclusion
5.2	Theoretical contributions
R	BV, SET, and ANT 45
5.3	Managerial recommendations
5.4	Limitations and future research directions
Refere	nces
Appen	dix 1: Information categories
Appen	dix 2: Interviewee distribution
Appen	dix 3: Coding scheme
Appen	dix 4: Interview guides
Appen	dix 5: Results ATLAS.ti
Appen	dix 6: Theoretical contribution analysis
Appen	dix 7: CPFR implementation



Chapter 1: Introduction

This chapter sets the foundation for understanding Short Food Supply Chains (SFSCs), tracing their evolution from prominence to decline, and their resurgence in the face of modern agricultural demands. It highlights the growing significance of sustainable food systems, and the contemporary challenges SFSCs encounter. The discussion frames the research questions and objectives, preparing the ground for a deeper exploration of the critical themes that shape this master's thesis.

1.1 Research background

SFSCs initially empowered producers within the food chain, offering them a strong position and equitable share of value. However, their influence diminished as Europe embraced longdistance transport, urbanisation, and technological innovations. The introduction of the American supermarket model in the 1960s significantly reduced producers' roles and incomes in the agri-food sector. By the 1990s, small farms had largely disappeared, and retail giants, sourcing from wholesalers and large suppliers, dominated local markets. Yet, renewed consumer interest in secure and sustainable products has revitalised SFSCs (Borsotto et al., 2023). In Europe, families allocate more than 10% of their food budget to purchases from SFSCs, which support over 15% of total employment in the food industry. Additionally, at least 30% of locally produced food is consumed locally (EIP-AGRI Focus Group, 2015). In The Netherlands the number of businesses engaging in direct sales grew significantly from 2,641 in 2016 to 7,225 in 2020; a 274% increase (Kraaijvanger et al., 2021).

This growth reflects the urgent need to address the social, economic, and environmental challenges inherent in the current food system. Socially, food systems must ensure public health, food security, and fair income distribution while fostering local food production, preserving food culture, and building trust among stakeholders. Economically, SFSCs must provide producers with greater value share while keeping high-quality food accessible to consumers. Environmentally, agriculture and food production face pressures from biodiversity loss, resource overuse, pollution, climate change, and food waste, much of which stems from centralised supply chains and geographic concentration of production. These centralised systems have widened the physical and social gaps between value chain participants, increasing inefficiencies and unsustainable practices (Vittersø et al., 2019).

SFSC initiatives that foster supply chain collaboration through transport platforms offer effective solutions to key logistical and organisational challenges stated by Paciarotti and



Torregiani (2020). By bundling deliveries, they reduce transport costs, improve economies of scale, and streamline operations. These SFSC initiatives, in the form of platforms, enhance product availability by coordinating local suppliers and simplifying access for consumers and institutions (Paciarotti and Torregiani, 2020).

This master's thesis, conducted at LCB within the 'Next Level Logistics' project, explores information sharing in SFSCs, a cluster of the project. The project aims to reduce vehicle movements and emissions while enhancing living and working environments through adaptive collaboration in transport capacity using advanced technologies like AI, blockchain, and datadriven planning (NLL, 2024). The thesis investigates the current state of information sharing among SFSC stakeholders, barriers to trust, capabilities, and willingness to share information, and how information sharing can be fostered in SFSCs, supporting the project's overarching goal of fostering supply chain collaboration in this context.

1.2 Problem indication

Traditional FSCs, while efficient in delivering large volumes of food over long distances, face well-documented inefficiencies. These include post-harvest losses, elevated consumer prices due to multiple intermediaries, and resource overutilisation (Vittersø et al., 2019). Despite the increasing popularity of SFSCs, several obstacles continue to hinder their expansion, such as poor collaboration among producers, a generational divide, infrastructural shortcomings, inadequate information sharing (Borsotto et al., 2023), and the disinterest among local suppliers to participate (Enthoven et al., 2023).

Information sharing in Short Food Supply Chains

The agri-food sector falls considerably behind other industries in addressing challenges arising from a combination of technological and social factors (Durrant et al., 2021). Collaborative Planning, Forecasting, and Replenishment (CPFR) frameworks provide a structured approach to improving supply chain coordination through shared data and joint decision-making (Du et al., 2009). However, challenges in information sharing practices persist (Borsotto et al., 2023), overcoming these barriers is neglected by the literature of SFSCs. The absence of real-time data exchange hampers SFSC performance (Burgess & Sunmola, 2021). Without accurate demand forecasts, local suppliers tend to overproduce, leading to waste, or underproduce, resulting in stockouts (Vittersø et al., 2019). Moreover, trust deficits between stakeholders further inhibit information sharing, as producers fear misuse of their data or exploitation by other supply chain participants (Huo & Jiang, 2007).



SFSC initiatives have sought to address these challenges by combining logistics and centralising orders to reduce transportation inefficiencies. By directly connecting producers with consumers and businesses, platforms aim to streamline operations while maintaining the local character of SFSCs (Lankauskienė et al., 2022). However, the scalability of such initiatives depends on improving information sharing and fostering greater collaboration among stakeholders (Burgess & Sunmola, 2021). Despite the increase in businesses engaging in SFSCs, initiatives remain small in scale or fail altogether due to logistical and operational hurdles. The seasonal and perishable nature of agricultural products also adds complexity to inventory management and distribution planning (Vittersø et al., 2019).

1.3 Theoretical contributions

Despite its significance, the literature on SFSCs often neglects the dynamics of information sharing. Challenges related to the upscaling of SFSCs are seldom linked to issues of information sharing, and even when such links are acknowledged (Borsotto et al., 2023), there is a lack of depth in exploring the boundary conditions that influence these challenges. Moreover, while studies such as those by Burgess & Sunmola (2021) explore the potential benefits of information sharing within the context of SFSCs, they tend to overlook the associated challenges. Additionally, the broader discourse on information sharing inadequately addresses the boundary conditions of context-specific phenomena. This oversight is well-articulated by Özer et al. (2011, p. 1128), who state, "Thus far, the information sharing and supply chain coordination literature has assumed that supply chain members either absolutely trust each other and cooperate or do not trust each other at all. Contrary to this all-or-nothing view, we determine that there exists a continuum between these two extremes when people share information." Building on Makadok et al.'s (2018) framework of six levers of theoretical contribution, boundary conditions, levels of analysis, causal mechanisms, constructs, phenomena, and modes of theorising, this master's thesis identifies a critical gap in the unexplored boundary conditions of information sharing in SFSCs. Understanding these boundary conditions is an important contribution in itself, with a potentially larger impact on SFSC literature.

1.4 Managerial implications

By focusing on information sharing, this research aims to support the development of more efficient and collaborative SFSCs, improving their long-term viability and scalability. This master's thesis is particularly relevant for SFSC participants, including local suppliers and SFSC initiatives, and is also be helpful for policymakers in developing policies to foster collaboration in SFSCs. For the latter, it outlines collaborative values that can help each



initiative develop strategies tailored to their specific circumstances and current state of these values. The primary objective of generalising the findings of this thesis is to bridge the practice of SFSCs with theoretical frameworks that have not yet been applied to this field of literature. Researching information sharing with the aim of contributing it with an unifying theory is valuable, as it addresses both social and technical challenges in supply chain contexts and improves understanding through interdisciplinary approaches, a focus found in only a handful of studies (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017). This approach offers a fresh perspective on SFSCs and their collaborative dynamics. Linking theory to practice provides actionable generalisable managerial recommendations that can be applied to diverse SFSCs. Specifically, it aims to guide stakeholders in implementing strategies that enhance trust, develop capabilities, and foster a greater willingness to share information. These actions will strengthen collaboration among stakeholders and contribute to the long-term success of SFSCs.

The combination of the need for theoretical contributions and managerial implications underscores the necessity of a holistic approach that integrates structured logistical frameworks, trust mechanisms, and capability-building to address the boundary conditions of information sharing and enhance the overall effectiveness of SFSCs, as illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Gaps in SFSC literature. Source: Author.



By addressing the identified research gap and contributing to both theoretical understanding and practical application, this study aims to answer the following problem statement, which is visually represented in the conceptual model shown in Figure 2:

"How can trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information be enhanced to foster information sharing in SFSCs?"



Figure 2: Conceptual model. Source: Author.

The problem statement is broken down into theoretical and empirical research questions, which together aim to provide a comprehensive answer to the problem statement.

Theoretical research questions:

- 1. What are the challenges of SFSCs, and how can information sharing be enhanced to address these challenges?
- 2. How do trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information influence information sharing?
- 3. How can the concepts of trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information be characterised and conceptualised within SFSCs?

Empirical research questions

- 4. What factors drive or hinder participation and collaboration among SFSC stakeholders?
- 5. Under what conditions does information sharing improve due to enhanced trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information in SFSCs?



Chapter 2: Literature review

This chapter provides a comprehensive overview of the existing literature relevant to the study of SFSCs. It begins by contrasting traditional FSCs with SFSCs, highlighting the operational challenges and inefficiencies of SFSCs while emphasising the sustainability-focused attributes. The discussion outlines key shifts shaping FSCs, and also delves into the unique configurations, logistics, and collaboration dynamics of SFSCs, underpinned by information sharing, trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information.

2.1 Traditional Food Supply Chains

Traditional Food Supply Chains (FSCs) are centralised systems designed for transporting large volumes of food over long distances, which is not sustainable (Lankauskienė et al., 2022). While efficient in scale, they often face inefficiencies and lack transparency due to reliance on intermediaries. Van Beusekom – Thoolen et al. (2023) identify challenges such as inadequate information sharing, poor external coordination, reactive logistics, and misaligned stakeholder goals, which hinder operational effectiveness and disrupt food safety efforts. Lankauskienė et al. (2022) describe three paradigm shifts relevant to the transition toward sustainable models:

- Demand-Driven Systems: Shifting from production-focused to consumer-centric approaches improves responsiveness to consumer needs, enhancing sustainability.
- Network Thinking: Moving from siloed, linear operations to collaborative networks strengthens resilience and value co-creation.
- Service-Dominant Logic: Emphasising value provision through goods and services fosters stronger producer-consumer relationships.

These insights underscore the limitations of traditional FSCs and the necessity for localised, transparent, and sustainable models like SFSCs.

2.2 Short Food Supply Chains

Short Food Supply Chains (SFSCs) are increasingly viewed as a sustainable alternative to traditional FSCs. Although no universal definition exists, SFSCs are generally characterised by their geographical and social proximity between producers and consumers. The European Union provides a comprehensive definition of SFSCs, describing them as:

"A supply chain involving a limited number of economic operators committed to cooperation, local economic development, and close geographical and social relations between producers, processors, and consumers" (European Union, 2013)



This study adopts this broad EU definition to account for both the geographical and social dimensions that define SFSCs. Trust, transparency, and cooperation are central to their success, with a focus on fostering close relationships throughout the supply chain (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020).

Comparison of FSCs and SFSCs

SFSCs differ significantly from traditional FSCs in terms of objectives, configurations, and the nature of relationships among actors, as shown in Table 2. While FSCs emphasise strategic cooperation to enhance value and efficiency across the entire chain, SFSCs prioritise cooperation, integration, and greater autonomy among actors, focusing on generating added value for local farmers and consumers (Thomé et al., 2020).

Table 2: Comparison of SFSCs and FSCs by focal components. Source: Thomé et al. (202	20).
--	------

Components	SFSCs	FSCs
Objective	Co-operation, integration and greater autonomy of actors; generating value for the farmers and the consumers, as well as alternatives and opportunities for rural and local development	Strategic co-operation for the <i>creation of value and efficiency</i> of the entire chain through the integration processes that are essential to the business of the chain actors
Configuration	Interactional network among actors mainly focused on bringing together producers and consumers	Gravitation actors around the focal firm, forming a <i>network of various</i> businesses and relations
Relations among the	Proximity, formal and informal, among the actors, mainly between farmers	Formality among actors, moderate relations with trust features and
chain actors	and consumers; relations based on trust building in the origin and quality of food products	institutional aspect among actors
	Need for greater integration among farmers (local) to strengthen the region	Need for greater integration between actors to strengthen the chain
Spatial relations	Relocation	Delocation
	Consumer knowledge about the location, production, product and spatial conditions of production; local and regionally-based	Absence of spatial reference of the product; no incentive to understand the food origin; products without space/land/territory/place
Interest	Community, regionality, territorial development, <i>enable the farmer to capture greater value and generate added value to the consumer</i>	Diffuse along the chain; in general, generate added value for the various chain actors and the consumer
Needs of the	Provide value to the chain actors; convergence of interests	Provide value to the chain actors; convergence of interests
productive system and consumption		

The SFSCs foster trust-based relationships through close geographical and social proximity, enabling direct communication and transparency between producers and consumers. In contrast, FSCs rely on formal relationships mediated by intermediaries, with moderate trust and institutional governance (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020; Vittersø et al., 2019). Spatial dynamics also differ: SFSCs emphasise localisation, connecting consumers with food origins and fostering community engagement, while FSCs often separate production and consumption, reducing transparency and consumer awareness (Schmitt et al., 2018).

2.3 SFSC initiatives

SFSC initiatives, by bundling resources and integrating transport logistics, facilitate direct B2B or B2C delivery of local products through a platform, described by Lankauskienė et al. (2022) as a two-sided network. These platforms, supported by IT connectivity (In et al., 2018), address logistical challenges by bundling resources and using platform-based ecosystems to optimise



delivery routes and reduce costs, while improving product availability and variety by coordinating multiple local suppliers (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020). Despite these advancements, further professionalisation of logistical practices remains necessary to fully realise the potential of SFSCs in scaling and sustaining localised food systems (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020; Vittersø et al., 2019). In Figure 3, a simplified network design of how an SFSC initiative can operate within an SFSC is depicted.



Figure 3: Network design SFSC. Source: Author.

Logistics is pivotal in reducing waste and maximising efficiency, especially for local food producers (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020). Strategic partnerships and collaborative forecasting are essential in volatile supply chains like the food industry, enhancing satisfaction and performance through group forecasting and internal integration, as highlighted by Eksoz et al. (2019) and Hamprecht et al. (2005). Logistics collaborations also ensure information sharing, logistics coordination, and benefit sharing (Audy et al., 2010).

Collaboration is multi-layered, involving both vertical (e.g., farmer-to-consumer) and horizontal (e.g., farmer-to-farmer) coordination (Yuan et al., 2023). Information sharing fosters transparency, trust, and accountability, yet barriers like low digital literacy among local producers hinder its effectiveness (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020). Mature industries, like the



traditional FSCs, increasingly use digital tools like IoT and blockchain to create transparent and reliable systems, enabling better collaboration across stakeholders (Yuan et al., 2023). In lowtech contexts, logistical inefficiencies persist, necessitating collaborative solutions (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020). CPFR (Collaborative, Planning, Forecasting, and Replenishment) is a supply chain initiative that enhances coordination through improved demand forecasting, production scheduling, inventory management, and order fulfilment (Hill et al., 2017). The primary objective of CPFR is to share selected internal information via a shared web server to provide reliable, long-term demand forecasts within the supply chain. To achieve this, frontend partnership agreements, joint business plans, and shared forecasts and sales data must be shared within the supply chain (Fliedner, 2003). CPFR frameworks enhance supply chain coordination through shared data and joint decision-making (Du et al., 2009), also reducing inventory levels, increasing sales, and improving performance (Hill et al., 2017), and the realtime data exchange would facilitate scaling-up in SFSCs (Burgess & Sunmola, 2021). In more mature FSCs, digital solutions like IoT and blockchain can overcome the barriers of scalingup, aligning production and demand while fostering trust (Yuan et al., 2023). However, the success of these systems depends on stakeholders' willingness to share information, as even advanced technologies cannot compensate for a lack of collaboration. As noted by Kwon and Suh (2004, p. 6), "Information sharing has been singled out as the most important factor for successful supply chain management".

2.4 Information sharing

"Information sharing means distributing useful information for systems, people or organizational units" (Lotfi et al., 2013, p. 300). This underscores the importance of identifying the specific information needs of stakeholders, particularly for SFSC initiatives, as their aim is to foster collaboration. The insights obtained from the response on the question "What is useful?", combined with findings from the literature (Fliedner, 2003; Liu et al., 2019), have led to a compilation of information considered relevant within SFSCs. The categories included in this compilation are 'Inventory Information', 'Product Information', 'Capacity Information', 'Sustainability Information', and 'Strategic Information'. This compilation is presented in Appendix 1.

Information sharing, also referred to as 'Knowledge Sharing' or 'Information Integration' (Lotfi et al., 2013), is integral to supply chain collaboration, relying on trust, information quality, and advanced technologies to improve performance (Nimmy et al., 2019). These factors are particularly critical for CPFR in SFSCs, which depends on joint planning and real-time data



exchange (Du et al., 2009). By aligning goals and synchronising operations, CPFR enhances efficiency and responsiveness. However, challenges such as high initial costs, stakeholder mistrust, and technological incompatibilities complicate implementation (Nimmy et al., 2019).

Trust has a stronger impact on information sharing in supply chains than power, though both are significant. Trust encourages supply chain members to share information willingly, providing a competitive advantage, while power acts as enforcement, compelling weaker members to share. Buyers are more likely to support suppliers they deem trustworthy and capable of long-term reliability (Cai et al., 2012). Similarly, Cheng et al. (2008) emphasised that trust is central to interorganisational information sharing. Factors that positively enhance trust (e.g., participation and communication) or negatively affect it (e.g., opportunistic behaviour) directly influence the extent of information sharing (Cheng et al., 2008). Pooe et al. (2015, p. 1) highlight on the other hand that for small to medium enterprises: "information sharing exerted a moderate positive and significant influence on supplier trust". The relationship between information sharing, trust, and subsequent information sharing in an supply chain constitutes a plausible positive feedback loop supported by these studies. This relationship follows a causal logic, as illustrated in Figure 4, and also supported by Badraoui et al. (2023). Badraoui et al. (2019, p. 88) further confirm this statement, within the context of FSCs, "information sharing improves the trust level between the partners by contributing to the reduction of behavioural uncertainty". Furthermore, they highlight that "the partners developed more trust and commitment toward each other, leading to more intensive operational activities in terms of information sharing and joint relationship efforts' (Badraoui et al., 2019, p. 99).



Figure 4: Positive feedback loop information sharing and trust. Source: Author, derived from Cheng et al. (2008), Cai et al. (2012), Pooe et al. (2015), Badraoui et al. (2019), Badraoui et al. (2023).

Effective information sharing further fosters collaboration and resilience in supply chains, offering benefits like cost efficiency and improved customer experiences (Colicchia et al., 2018). Collaborative practices are most effective with high-quality information, but even lower-



quality data can positively impact performance (Wiengarten et al., 2010). Despite its importance, the literature on SFSCs overlooks the dynamics of information sharing. For instance, Charatsari et al. (2019) explore the competencies and participation of farmers within SFSCs but do not delve into information sharing. Similarly, studies like that of Borsotto et al. (2023) acknowledge that scaling up SFSCs faces obstacles due to a lack of information and weak cooperation, yet they do not dedicate further study to these issues. To the best of the researcher's knowledge, Burgess and Sunmola (2021) are the only researchers who focus on information sharing in SFSCs. They assert that real-time data exchange is a functional requirement and emphasise the necessity of accessible platforms for effective two-way communication and information sharing among SFSC stakeholders. These platforms must ensure that information is consistent, timely, and openly accessible. Integration and connectivity are crucial, with IT platforms required to prioritise not just effectiveness but also seamless connectivity. Enhancing connectivity in SFSCs depends on key factors such as technology, trust, and collaboration. Unfortunately, Burgess and Sunmola (2021) on the other hand overlook the challenges within information exchange in SFSCs. Beyond the literature on SFSCs, the broader literature on information sharing also falls short in describing the boundary conditions of the contextual factors affecting information sharing in more mature supply chains like the traditional FSC. For example, Yuan et al. (2023) emphasise technology's role in enhancing transparency, trust, and collaboration, while Du et al. (2009) explore the logistical benefits of CPFR, both primarily within the context of more developed FSCs. Consequently, these findings may not directly apply to SFSCs which often exhibit varying levels of technological advancement, as highlighted with the technological limitations by Lankauskienė et al. (2022).

2.5 Willingness to share information

"Willingness to share information with supply chain partners can be defined as a company's openness to sharing relevant information honestly and frequently and to making strategic and tactical data available to supply chain partners" (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017, p. 419). In practice, individuals, not companies, demonstrate this willingness, highlighting the need to incorporate insights from general information-sharing literature. Particularly the definition of the individual willingness as the degree to which an individual is prepared to grant others access to their personal intellectual capital (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017). This human dimension is crucial for effective information sharing in supply chain collaboration. Fawcett et al. (2007, p. 360) emphasise that "huge investments in technology can be negated by an unwillingness to share needed information". Despite the critical role of willingness, companies often focus



disproportionately on technological connectivity, neglecting the human and cultural dimensions essential for effective information sharing (Fawcett et al., 2007; Zaheer & Trkman, 2017). Several human and cultural dimensions influence the willingness to share information, including trust, commitment, and reciprocity. Trust emerges as the most significant antecedent, creating an environment where stakeholders feel confident that shared information will not be misused (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017). Commitment to shared goals and reciprocity, the expectation that information sharing will be mutually beneficial, further enhance this willingness, and foster information sharing (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017).

Organisational culture also plays a critical role. A supportive culture that prioritises openness and collaboration can significantly enhance profitability and performance by encouraging a willingness to share information (Fawcett et al., 2007). Management support is equally important; visible commitment from leadership and clear policies addressing potential concerns can alleviate fears of data misuse, thus fostering a more collaborative environment (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017). In evaluating the willingness to share information during interviews, emphasis is placed on assessing the actors' capabilities to engage in frequent and regular communication, their openness to sharing information within the SFSC, and whether local suppliers perceive that they are treated fairly under equitable policies. This approach facilitates an understanding of the reciprocity aspects, as highlighted by Zaheer and Trkman (2017).

2.6 Trust

Trust is a multifaceted concept that underpins effective collaboration in SFSCs. Akkermans et al. (2003, p. 447) define trust as "the belief that the other party will act in the firm's best interest in circumstances where that other party could take advantage or act opportunistically to gain at the firm's expense." Similarly, Zaheer and Trkman (2017, p. 421) describe trust as "the willingness of A (the truster) to be vulnerable to the actions of B and expecting that B will perform a particular important action for A, regardless of A's ability to monitor or control B." For this research, trust was assessed using Evans and Revelle's (2008) definition of trust as a psychological state based on positive expectations of another's intentions or behaviour. Interviews explored trust through open-ended questions, examining whether SFSC initiatives keep promises and consider the welfare of local suppliers (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017).

Socially sustainable food chains emphasise trust-building to support local food production, foster social capital, and create shared value (Vittersø et al., 2019). Communication frequency and quality positively influence trust development, with greater communication frequency



associated with higher perceived communication quality (Mohr & Sohi, 1995). Yuan et al. (2023, p. 15) states a barrier: "hands-on information exchange styles" among farmers can lead to unclear communication and require significant interpretation, undermining trust. This is undesirable, as trust leads to more and superior information sharing and effective information flows in a supply chain environment (Badraoui, 2023; Stuart et al., 2012). However, challenges like individualism of local suppliers, reluctance to cooperate, and a lack of trust persist as barriers to collaboration in SFSCs (Volpentesta & Ammirato, 2012).

Despite its importance, trust between local suppliers and SFSC initiatives is underexplored. While studies often highlight farmer-consumer trust in FSCs, they neglect the dynamics of trustbuilding between local suppliers and SFSC initiatives. Mechanisms such as regular communication, fair pricing, and shared risk management likely play a critical role but remain insufficiently examined (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020). Boundary conditions for trust vary depending on the scale and structure of SFSCs. Larger, formal networks may rely on contracts and technologies to establish trust, while smaller, informal networks depend on personal relationships and social proximity. Platforms can bridge these gaps, but their role in trust-building remains ambiguous (Lankauskiene et al., 2022). As detailed by Özer et al. (2011), trust and information sharing exist on a continuum rather than in a binary state, underscoring the necessity to explore the circumstances under which trust in information is applicable and when it is not.

2.7 Capabilities

Capabilities in order to digitalise and participate in the SFSC are lacking (Charatsari et al., 2019; Michel-Villarreal et al., 2021). In mature industries like the traditional FSC, digitalisation is employed to enhance efficiency and mitigate food waste (Annosi et al., 2021). In the context of SFSCs, Michel-Villarreal et al. (2021) highlight: "A key finding is the importance of low-cost digital technologies (including freeware and social media) that can support flexibility, collaboration, visibility and agility. These findings raise important implications for SFSCs actors exploring opportunities to improve" supply chain resilience capabilities. Michel-Villarreal et al. (2021) emphasise that augmenting capabilities is crucial for increasing agility and fostering collaboration. Furthermore, they suggest that supply chain resilience will be bolstered by promoting information sharing practices, such as sharing inventory levels and production schedules, adopting new business models, and facilitating rapid decision-making (Michel-Villarreal et al., 2021).



Capabilities can be distinguished between zero-level capabilities and higher-level capabilities: "Zero-level capabilities refer to ordinary capabilities – the ability to maintain daily operations in the short term, whereas dynamic capabilities are considered as higher-level capabilities to sustain competitive advantages in the long term" (Song & Liao, 2018, p. 60). In this master's thesis, the aim is to identify the higher-level capabilities in SFSCs. To study capabilities in SFSCs, a distinction is made between the following three phenomena:

- DAC: "Maintaining and developing routines required for using DA to develop business insights that is aligned with business needs and priorities." (Kakhki et al., 2022, p. 541)
- Management competencies: "A set of motivations, personal, traits, abilities, knowledge and values necessary to improve management performance." (Gamarra et al., 2019, p. 1)
- Marketing competencies: "Help managers understand various customer segments and their requirements and plan to meet the identified needs." (Mageto & Luke, 2020, p. 12)

Data Analytical Capabilities

DAC is a dynamic capability enabling organisations to understand their environment, seize opportunities through data-driven decisions, and adapt to changes. It supports supply chain flexibility, process innovation, and sustainable innovation (Kokkinou et al., 2024). Developing DAC relies on three resource types: (1) tangible resources like time, finances, data, and technology, (2) intangible, organisation-specific resources such as a data-driven culture and organisational learning, and (3) human resources requiring managerial and technical expertise (Kokkinou et al., 2024). Food suppliers often innovate in ways that align with their interests and limited capabilities, typically working independently and opting for simpler, less effective methods (Annosi et al., 2021). Enhanced capabilities can lead to reduced food waste due to improved management facilitated by data utilisation, increasing supply chain performance. Furthermore, a high DAC allows for more effective management of data and insights, accelerating digital transformation and enhancing the efficiency of information sharing (Annosi et al., 2021).

In more mature supply chains, assessing DAC involves evaluating the integration of data sources, the use of visualisation tools to simplify complex information, root cause analysis, and ensuring dashboard accessibility on devices (Yu et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2021). Data analytics encompasses employing data along with statistical and quantitative analyses, utilising explanatory and predictive models, and applying fact-based management to steer decisions and



actions (Davenport and Harris, 2007), including predictive analytics, which supports demand forecasting, production optimisation, and waste reduction (Zhu & Yang, 2021). Bag et al. (2019) and Nisar et al. (2022) state that DAC support firms to leverage data analytics and organisational learning to support sustainable SCM outcomes. However, to the best of the researcher's knowledge, research on the DAC in SFSCs has not been previously addressed. Nonetheless, it is an important factor in digitalising traditional FSC, and therefore valuable to consider when the goal of this master's thesis is to enhance information sharing. For example, Nisar et al. (2022) focus on multinational corporations, highlighting the need to explore how DAC can address the specific needs of smaller, community-focused supply chains.

Management and marketing competencies

Beyond DAC, marketing and management competencies are crucial for SFSC participants, including suppliers and initiatives. Participation in SFSCs requires diverse skills in marketing, entrepreneurship, and management, shaped by local socio-economic and cultural contexts (Charatsari et al., 2019). Competencies in communication, collaboration, and market navigation, such as pricing strategies and consumer behaviour, enhance SFSC sustainability (Lummus et al., 2003). Managerial skills, including joint planning, resource sharing, and market-based information exchange, further strengthen collaboration (Du et al., 2009). Despite their importance, coordinated frameworks for these competencies remain underexplored. Peerto-peer learning can enhance farmer competencies (Charatsari et al., 2019), but mechanisms to align these with strategic frameworks like CPFR are lacking. Logistical challenges (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020) and inefficiencies in two-sided platforms (Lankauskienė et al., 2022) further underline the need for professionalisation and integration of competencies. This thesis incorporates marketing and managerial competencies alongside DAC to address these gaps in SFSC research. Management competencies include managing risks, finances, businesses, and coordination strategies (Charatsari et al., 2019). Marketing competencies, include sales promotion, market analysis, and alternative distribution strategies (Charatsari et al., 2019). Management and marketing competencies significantly influence willingness to participate in SFSCs (Charatsari et al., 2019), making them vital for studying information sharing and collaboration within SFSCs.



2.8 Conclusion

Chapter 2 systematically explored the theoretical research questions that underpin this master's thesis. This segment delineates and responds to the following theoretical research questions:

1. What are the challenges of SFSCs, and how can information sharing be enhanced to address these challenges?

SFSCs face logistical inefficiencies, fragmented communication, professionalisation issues, digital literacy and individualism of local suppliers, reluctance to cooperate and a lack of trust persist as challenges to collaboration. Enhancing information sharing through increasing trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share can address these challenges.

2. How do trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information influence information sharing?

Trust is the cornerstone of effective collaboration, fostering transparency and reducing barriers to information sharing. Capabilities, including data analytics, management, and marketing, enable information utilisation, and SFSC sustainability. The willingness to share information, driven by trust, reciprocity, is essential but lacking in SFSCs, which hinders information sharing.

3. How can the concepts of trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information be characterised and conceptualised within SFSCs?

Trust within SFSCs is relational, relying on frequent communication and fairness. Capabilities integrate dynamic capabilities like data analysis with practical competencies in management and marketing, essential for scaling SFSCs sustainably. Willingness is both an individual and organisational attribute shaped by trust, reciprocity, and commitment.

Addressing these interconnected factors is crucial for developing scalable, resilient SFSCs that balance sustainability and efficiency, forming the foundation for the methodological framework outlined in Chapter 3.



Chapter 3: Methodology

This chapter outlines the methodological framework underpinning the research, detailing the research design, data collection methods, and analytical approaches used to explore the dynamics of information sharing within SFSCs. Building on the theoretical insights provided in Chapter 2, it justifies the use of a qualitative abductive case study approach and emphasises the alignment of methods with the research objectives, ensuring reliability and validity.

3.1 Nature of research and research strategy

To capture the complexities of information sharing a qualitative multi-case study will be conducted. "Qualitative SCM case research is particularly useful in the area of theory building, and as a way of presenting and evaluating real world SCM examples" (Childe & Soares, 2022, p. 122). Using an abductive qualitative case study approach, the research enhances methodological rigor and bridges theory with practice (Barratt et al., 2010). By triangulating emerging findings with existing literature on SFSC management, this study will discuss various perspectives on information sharing in SFSCs (Annosi et al., 2021). Conducted as a cross-sectional study, it examines current practices, motivations, relationships, and contextual factors shaping information sharing within SFSCs. The unit of analysis is at the organisational level, focusing on local suppliers and SFSC initiatives.

Given the complex and context-dependent nature of SFSCs, a case study design was chosen for its ability to answer "how" and "why" questions, providing in-depth insights into contextspecific phenomena (Ellinger & McWhorter, 2016), such as information-sharing. In SCM "personal in-depth interviews can help capture the thought processes, frames of reference and feelings about the case topic, which has meaning to the participant" (Childe & Soares, 2022, p. 132). That this was particularly applicable for local suppliers was highlighted by two experts conducting research in the field of SFSCs, as well as supported by the literature: "Due to the characteristics of being distributed in place and busy on farm, farmers were difficult to recruit when we conducted the study" (Yuan et al., 2023, p. 10). This challenge is, in itself, not surprising, given the necessity of studying information-sharing practices within this specific sector. Multiple cases were selected for cross-case analysis identifying recurring patterns and unique differences, providing a nuanced understanding of the boundary conditions for information sharing practices (Lee & Chavis, 2011). While cases are not fully independent, their interconnectedness enables meaningful comparisons of SFSC initiatives through shared local suppliers. This approach accommodates the diversity inherent in SFSCs, allowing for a



detailed analysis of their multifaceted economic, social, and cultural dimensions (Johansson, 2007).

3.2 Data collection

Sampling strategy

A non-probability purposive sampling technique was employed to identify participants with direct experience in SFSCs. This approach allows for the assumption that the selected participants possess rich, relevant insights into the phenomenon of interest (Richey et al., 2016). The sampling criteria included:

- Local suppliers: farmers connected to one or multiple SFSC initiatives.
- SFSC initiatives: facilitate direct B2B or B2C delivery of local products through a platform.
- Government agency: experts with extensive knowledge of SFSCs, included to provide a broader perspective on regulatory and structural factors influencing SFSCs.

This purposive approach was particularly relevant given the challenges associated with recruiting farmers, as stated before (Yuan et al., 2023).

Data collection method and processes

In this thesis, semi-structured interviews have collected qualitative data on the informationsharing activities of SFSC actors. Semi-structured interviews, well-suited for exploring complex, context-dependent phenomena (Adams, 2015), are commonly used to gain deeper insights into companies' willingness to collaborate, yielding richer data (Fawcett et al., 2007). The interviews are recorded, transcribed, and analysed using thematic and open coding techniques. The interview guide was informed by the literature review and tailored to the unique characteristics of SFSCs. The interview guide was developed using Zaheer and Trkman (2017) for trust and willingness to share information, Mirkovski et al. (2019) for information sharing, and Fliedner (2003) and Liu et al. (2019) for identifying relevant information types, combined with insights from an SFSC initiative. Yu et al. (2020) and Yu et al. (2021) informed the focus on DAC, and Charatsari et al. (2019) contributed to marketing and management competencies. Additionally, Mirkovski et al. (2019), examining trust and distrust in ICT-enabled information sharing, guided questions on the complex social phenomena. The interview process included refinement of the interview guides through expert feedback. Open-ended questions were used to encourage in-depth discussions while allowing for flexibility to explore emerging themes (Hoffmann, 2007). The questions were specifically tailored to accommodate the practical



communication styles and time constraints of farmers, ensuring alignment with their realities and fostering open, meaningful discussions. Interviews lasted on average 45-60 minutes and were audio-recorded with permission for transcription and analysis. To address potential biases, a "native categories" approach was employed, focusing on respondents' perspectives and minimising interviewer bias (Richey et al., 2016). Native categories refer to the naturally occurring concepts and terms that participants use to describe their experiences, enabling a richer understanding of their perspectives. Table 3 provides an overview of the interview data, summarising the roles of participants, and the duration of each interview. An 'X' indicates applicability; for example, the interviewee is a local supplier. An 'O' indicates that the interviewee is a local supplier with an additional managerial role in one of the three SFSC initiatives.

Interviews (not in chronological order)	Government agency	SFSC initiative	Local supplier	Interview duration
Interview 1	Х			55
Interview 2		Х		70
Interview 3		Х		45
Interview 4		Х		45
Interview 5		0	Х	60
Interview 6		0	Х	55
Interview 7		0	Х	30
Interview 8			Х	60
Interview 9			Х	55
Interview 10			Х	45
Interview 11			Х	40
Interview 12			Х	35
Interview 13			Х	35
Interview 14			Х	30
Interview 15			Х	25
Total				685 minutes = 11 hours and 25 minutes

Table 3: Interview data



In the analysis of the distribution of local suppliers across the different SFSC initiatives (refer to Appendix 2), it becomes evident that there is an even distribution of supplier involvement among the discussed initiatives. It is showed that three local suppliers are active in all three of the discussed initiatives, five local suppliers participate in two of the discussed initiatives, and three local suppliers are involved in only one of the discussed initiatives, with each of these three participating in a different initiative. This distribution ensures a balanced representation of local suppliers across the SFSC initiatives, providing a solid foundation for analysing the perspectives and dynamics within these chains.

3.3 Data analysis

In this thesis, thematic analysis will be utilised to examine the data. Thematic analysis is a method for identifying, analysing, and reporting patterns or themes within data. The process includes six steps: (1) becoming familiar with the data, (2) creating initial codes, (3) looking for themes, (4) evaluating themes, (5) defining and naming themes, and (6) author the report (Sodhi & Tang, 2017). In the beginning, keywords were applied inductively to identify open codes. As the research advanced, these keywords increasingly aligned with developing theories and assisted in the formulation of axial and selective codes, aligning with Naeem et al. (2023). This process included:

- 1. Open Coding: initial identification of key concepts and themes, with deductive codes derived from existing literature and inductive codes emerging from the data.
- 2. Axial Coding: linking codes to identify relationships and patterns within the data.
- 3. Selective Coding: developing overarching themes to integrate findings into a coherent narrative.

The final coding scheme is shown in Table 4. A more detailed version of the coding scheme, including both initial and new codes with definitions from the literature and representative quotes, is provided in Appendix 3. Additionally, Appendix 8 includes a complete display of all codes with the corresponding quotes from each interviewee. After coding, co-occurrence, code-document and sentiment analyses were conducted, to validate the findings from the thematic analysis, and to extract tone and meaning from the data (Ainslie et al., 2023). Sentiment analysis is a feature in ATLAS.ti that evaluates the emotional tone of text data (Kalpokas, 2024), while the software's co-occurrence analysis function is particularly effective for exploring the interplay between constructs and identifying associations, as it allows researchers to examine the strength of the relationship of codes (Stewart, 2024).



Table 4: Coding scheme

[Theme: C	Code]
Ι	Information sharing
	[Information sharing: Willingness to share information] [Information sharing: Trust] [Information sharing: Capabilities] [Information sharing: Information sharing]
II	Willingness to share information
	[Willingness to share information: Reciprocity]
III	Trust
	[Trust: Transparency] [Trust: Communication] [Trust: Pricing]
IV	Capabilities
	[Capabilities: Data Analytical Capabilities] [Capabilities: Management competencies] [Capabilities: Marketing competencies] [Capabilities: Resource heterogeneity] [Capabilities: Maturity]

3.4 Reliability and validity

Triangulation in qualitative research is "suggested that mixing qualitative methods allows for different perspectives that may otherwise be overlooked" (Carter et al., 2014, p. 545). First data triangulation, by interviewing 15 respondents, including SFSC initiatives, local suppliers, evenly distributed within the initiatives, and a government agency data triangulation was achieved (Noble & Heale, 2019). Secondly, a two-step triangulation was used to analyse the data to ensure the reliability and validity of the findings (Carter et al., 2014). First, an initial analysis was conducted using a coding scheme. This approach allowed for a structured overview of quotes, patterns, and emerging themes, which provided clarity in understanding initial results and relationships between the themes. Second, the findings from the coding scheme were validated through a co-occurrence analysis and code-document analysis in ATLAS.ti. This dual approach ensured that the initial manual analysis and the software-assisted validation complemented each other, providing robust findings. By cross-verifying results through these two distinct methods, triangulation enhanced the study's overall credibility and minimised potential biases in data interpretation.

To minimise researcher bias, the interview guide was subjected to multiple rounds of expert feedback. For the local suppliers, the guide was revised based on input from a PhD candidate and a professor, both conducting research in the field of SFSC management and possessing extensive experience in conducting interviews. Additionally, feedback was sought from the director of an SFSC initiative. This expert's feedback was particularly valuable given their direct relevance to the research context. The interview guide for the SFSC initiatives was revised after feedback from a former director of an SFSC initiative and independent of the research. This step ensured that any potential bias introduced by direct involvement of SFSC initiatives in the



study was mitigated, while still leveraging the expertise of professionals in the field. These revisions enhanced the interview guide's validity and transparency by incorporating diverse perspectives while maintaining objectivity (Kallio et al., 2016). Table 5 provides an overview of the measures undertaken to uphold the principles of reliability and validity.

Table 5: Measures reliability and validity

Test	Measures taken
Reliability & Construct	Data were analysed using a two-step triangulation process: initial analysis with a validation through co-occurrence and code-document analysis in ATLAS.ti
validity	Data triangulation ensuring multiple sources of evidence: interviews, cross-case comparisons, and respondent feedback
	All interviews are recorded and transcribed to minimise errors in processing the information of the interviewees
	Transcriptions are coded iteratively and systematically to minimise errors and align with the abductive approach
	A case study database was established and maintained with notes, interview transcripts, and coding documents
Internal validity	Cross-case analysis conducted to identify patterns and variations across cases, enhancing the understanding of contextual dynamics
	Interview guides were used, featuring a standardised initial set of questions for local suppliers, SFSC initiatives, and the government agency. These guides also allowed flexibility to delve deeper into relevant topics as needed. For more details, see Appendix 4.
	The interview guides were refined through expert feedback
External validity	Purposive sampling was used to include diverse perspectives, ensuring insights are transferable to similar SFSC contexts
	An expert from a Dutch Agriculture and Horticulture Organization, reviewed and validated the findings to ensure accuracy and relevance: "I can well envision the content as reality."
	An expert from a Dutch government agency, reviewed and validated the findings to ensure accuracy and relevance: "I can certainly agree with the findings."



Chapter 4: Findings and results

The findings emphasise the need for in-depth insights, as demonstrated by the experience of a local supplier: "In total, we've had eighteen [SFSC initiatives]. Now, we only have three left." This highlights the challenges and fragility of SFSC initiatives, reinforcing the importance of understanding what contributes to their sustainability. As a government agency explained:

What you're doing now, even without necessarily having an agricultural background, is immersing yourself in what matters to the farmer. In my view, anyone who wants to build such a chain must deeply understand when the farmer is involved and when the ICT specialist developing the platform is engaged.

These perspectives underline the value of qualitative research in uncovering the factors critical to the success of information sharing in SFSCs. This chapter presents the findings and results of the study, focusing on information sharing, trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information within SFSCs. The results are drawn from the analysis of interviews, with full transcripts provided in Appendix 9. The quotes are anonymised as much as possible to prevent the identification of SFSC initiatives and local suppliers through the aggregation of statements. Only when deemed essential for the clarity or validity of the analysis, the specific SFSC initiative or local supplier associated with a statement will be identified. The structure follows the main themes identified in Chapter 2.

4.1 Information sharing

The amount of information shared is limited when the ultimate goal is to achieve CPFR and the goals of the SFSC initiatives. Inventory information and product information are the most commonly shared types of data. The sharing of details such as current stock levels or product availability typically happens through lower level information sharing direct communication, relying on informal methods such as phone calls, WhatsApp, emails, or face-to-face discussions. The information sharing lacks automation, requiring manual input and updates. This method of communication, while straightforward, is not optimised for structured or continuous data exchange, making it less effective in achieving advanced CPFR goals. Capacity information is less frequently shared, as highlighted by local suppliers who lack the resources or systems to provide detailed forecasts about production capabilities. Sustainability information, while increasingly important, is not commonly shared due to a lack of standardised data collection practices among local suppliers. Lastly, strategic information, such as pricing strategies or long-term planning, is the least shared, reflecting concerns about transparency and



the competitive nature of such information. Only two local suppliers were sharing more advanced information, such as sales data and collaborative plans, though these exchanges were not automated.

To quantify the relationships between key constructs related to information sharing, a cooccurrence analysis was conducted using ATLAS.ti. All the results of the co-occurrence, codedocument, and sentiment analyses conducted using ATLAS.ti are comprehensively presented in Appendix 5. A co-occurrence analysis is particularly effective for exploring the interplay between constructs and identifying associations, as it allows researchers to examine the strength of the relationship of codes (Stewart, 2024), as shown in Table 6. The strongest co-occurrence with Information Sharing is with Trust (0.58), followed by Willingness to Share Information (0.26), and Capabilities (0.25). Another notable co-occurrence is between Trust and Willingness to Share Information (0.40).

Table 6: Co-occurrence analysis ATLAS.ti of all themes

	🔆 Capabilities	🔶 Information Sharing	🛟 Trust	Willingness to Share Information
👶 Capabilities		0,25	0,27	0,20
Information Sharing	0,25		0,58	0,26
🛟 Trust	0,27	0,58		0,40
Willingness to Share Information	0,20	0,26	0,40	

4.2 Willingness to share information

The willingness to share information emerges as a multifaceted concept influenced by several interrelated factors. Trust plays a central role, with stakeholders more willing to share data when they trust that it will not be misused. Reciprocity also shapes willingness, as stakeholders seek balanced exchanges where mutual benefits are evident.

Table 7 illustrates the distribution of the sentiments for the willingness to share information across the local suppliers, as a code-document analysis. Sentiment analysis is a feature in ATLAS.ti that evaluates the emotional tone of text data (Kalpokas, 2024). By integrating sentiment analysis with code-document analysis, which compares the sentiments per interviewee, a deeper understanding is gained of the contextual elements in play. Overall, negative mentions of the willingness to share information (54.98%) slightly outweigh positive mentions (45.02%). However, the variation underscores the need to comprehend the conditions under which willingness to share is high or low.



		 Willingness to Share Information: Negative 351 	 Willingness to Share Information: Positive 334 	Totals
2: Transcript interview Local supplier A	o 111	57,14%	42,86%	100,00%
3: Transcript interview Local supplier B	o 116	48,94%	51,06%	100,00%
4: Transcript interview Local supplier C	o 89	37,50%	62,50%	100,00%
5: Transcript interview Local supplier D	o 180	72,34%	27,66%	100,00%
🖹 6: Transcript interview Local supplier E	o 107	55,56%	44,44%	100,00%
7: Transcript interview Local supplier F	③ 129	69,57%	30,43%	100,00%
8: Transcript interview Local supplier G	o 114	44,74%	55,26%	100,00%
9: Transcript interview Local supplier H	o 126	72,09%	27,91%	100,00%
10: Transcript interview Local supplier I	o 211	51,43%	48,57%	100,00%
11: Transcript interview Local supplier J	o 114	48,65%	51,35%	100,00%
12: Transcript interview Local supplier K	o 157	46,81%	53,19%	100,00%
Totals		54,98%	45,02%	100,00%

Table 7: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Willingness to Share information

One local supplier explains her willingness to share information as follows:

SFSC initiatives can have all the information we have. Why not? Other entrepreneurs can also view the figures, such as the number of customers per week and the revenue, and we share tips to help each other move forward.

At the same time, the same local supplier nuances their willingness regarding product information and reciprocity:

The willingness to share information is lower with initiatives where the process is timeconsuming and cumbersome, and the balance [reciprocity] is not right. I am starting to become a bit more cautious about what I offer. Because, with these initiatives it often goes like this when offering something new or seasonal: 'do you have a photo?', then, 'what is the nutritional value?', and after that, 'what's the price?'. And all of this happens via WhatsApp, and by the time it's all done, I can't help but think; 'this is such a hassle'. [...] And if I say I want to add 10% for our labour, there's grumbling. Then I think, if they don't appreciate us, we'll just stop. [...] They could come by themselves to take photos instead of constantly asking me for updates. It would be nice if they made the effort for a change. [...] It's about give and take, and the responsibility shouldn't fall entirely on me.



This perspective emphasises that local suppliers are solely responsible for managing tasks like providing photos or product details, which creates additional workload and decreases their willingness to share information if the reciprocity is not balanced.

Reciprocity

The findings emphasise the importance of maintaining a balanced reciprocity in investments between initiatives and suppliers. Local supplier K, that also has a managerial role in an SFSC initiative stated:

Sharing information only works when both sides benefit. If logistics are well-organised and can integrate with our inventory system, it's ideal. But with the suppliers we work with now, that's rare. Suppliers need to put effort into maintaining real-time inventory for it to work, and without that mutual benefit, the willingness to do so is limited.

When investments are perceived as inequitable, it can lead to frustration and a reduction in the willingness to share information. This principle of reciprocity is crucial for information sharing, as highlighted by one SFSC initiative: "Sharing information works both ways, if you share information, you receive information in return." Local suppliers have indicated that they would benefit from more information from SFSC initiatives, which would also be beneficial for reciprocity. This includes both knowledge sharing, such as informal information evenings, and information to achieve CPFR like demand forecasts:

If we ask them [the SFSC initiative] for a forecast until June, we can reserve what we need for them. It's also helpful to get this kind of information from less mature initiatives, as it helps us plan what to grow.

All initiatives have demand forecast information available, as noted by one less mature SFSC initiative:

We could inform the local suppliers about the demand for certain products during specific periods. This allows them and their neighbours to serve a larger share of the market together. We do have that kind of data, of course.

Sharing this information will foster collaboration by increasing trust, as the initiative shows vulnerability, and will eventually lead to more information sharing by the local suppliers. Overall, local suppliers felt they were treated fairly and were enthusiastic about the policies of the SFSC initiatives. However, when asked about their willingness to share information, it often emerged that their willingness depended more on reciprocity than on an clear enthusiasm to



share information. The aspect of reciprocity implies that valuable information is also being shared by the SFSC initiatives, which are willing to do so, but are currently not sharing due to an asymmetry in what they both parties want in terms of information. This reciprocity would increase information sharing and enhance supplier involvement. Nevertheless, four local suppliers expressed dissatisfaction with one initiative, feeling that the pricing for farmers was unfair, which undermined their trust.

4.3 Trust

The fact that trust takes time and is fragmented is often mentioned as the foundation of trustbuilding mechanisms:

- "They need to see it to believe it." Quoted by SFSC initiative C.
- "I'm unsure about [SFSC initiative], but my wife is more enthusiastic. I don't know what to expect or how extreme it [the succes] will be." Quoted by local supplier A
- "Trust is crucial in SFSCs; even if it takes 10 years to build, that's still nothing." Quoted by a government agency.

Table 8 represents a code-document analysis, comparing the frequency with which trust is coded as positive or negative in the sentiment analysis across different local suppliers. The results show variability in trust perceptions. For example, Local Supplier F exhibits the highest percentage of negative trust mentions at 66.67%, while Local Supplier C has the highest percentage of positive trust mentions at 65.00%. Overall, positive trust (52.15%) slightly outweighs negative trust (47.85%), but the distribution is far from consistent across suppliers.

		 Trust: Negative 135 	Trust: Positive (3) 183	Totals
2: Transcript interview Local supplier A	3111	60,00%	40,00%	100,00%
3: Transcript interview Local supplier B	③ 116	56,25%	43,75%	100,00%
4: Transcript interview Local supplier C	(1) 89	35,00%	65,00%	100,00%
5: Transcript interview Local supplier D	39 180	54,55%	45,45%	100,00%
🖹 6: Transcript interview Local supplier E	③ 107	44,44%	55,56%	100,00%
7: Transcript interview Local supplier F	33 129	66,67%	33,33%	100,00%
8: Transcript interview Local supplier G	o 114	36,00%	64,00%	100,00%
9: Transcript interview Local supplier H	③ 126	41,18%	58,82%	100,00%
10: Transcript interview Local supplier I	39 211	42,86%	57,14%	100,00%
11: Transcript interview Local supplier J	3114	45,45%	54,55%	100,00%
12: Transcript interview Local supplier K	③ 157	44,00%	56,00%	100,00%
Totals		47,85%	52,15%	100,00%

Table 8: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Trust



This inconsistency is partly due to the diverse perspectives on different initiatives, and the overlapping local suppliers from those different initiatives. This indicates that trust is perceived and discussed differently depending on the specific supplier, highlighting the need for tailored approaches to addressing trust issues in SFSC initiatives. Trust and the willingness to share information are reduced when knowledge resources are not respected and communication is not transparent, as mentioned by one local supplier:

I enjoy sharing knowledge, but not everything. [...], you sometimes see them going elsewhere using information they learned here. [...] it's the reason I no longer share all the details about my crops. For example, if someone calls and asks, 'How's that crop going?' and I explain everything, they might take that knowledge to [SFSC initiative], and stop buying from me. I've addressed this with [SFSC initiative] because I don't think it's fair.

Also, the mentioned SFSC initiative states the following about sharing knowledge resources: "what we sometimes do is identify and tell when a supplier uses certain techniques that another supplier might lack". Although these efforts are made with the best intentions, they are not always appreciated and could lead to a loss of trust and increased barriers to sharing information. The government agency also mentions that they would be careful in advising in sharing information, indicating the need for transparent agreements:

I would be cautious about telling farmers to "just share all your information," as it means giving something away. I wouldn't say, "you can easily do that with this party," because I don't know their intentions or what happens behind the scenes. [...] To increase farmers' willingness to share data, it's about proving trust. Word-of-mouth is important; start, prove the benefits, and it will spread naturally.

Trust is the strongest predictor of information sharing outcomes, as evidenced by a cooccurrence coefficient of 0.58. Interviews with local suppliers reveal diverse perspectives on trust. Some suppliers emphasized positive trust dynamics, highlighting long-term relationships and transparent practices that encouraged information sharing. As earlier stated, one local supplier with high trust noted: "SFSC initiatives can have all the information we have. Why not?" Conversely, other suppliers raised concerns about unequal power dynamics and inconsistent communication, which undermined their trust. This was reflected in a statement by a supplier with low trust: "No one gets that [planning and forecasting] information. Why should they?" These contrasting views highlight the varied experiences of local suppliers and the


dynamic role of trust in shaping information-sharing behaviour within SFSCs. SFSC initiatives emphasise that building trust is a gradual process, often strengthened through consistent communication and long-term collaboration, such as resolving logistical challenges like pickup times. This demonstrates that trust is not static but develops over time through ongoing interactions and effective communication. Building trust requires sustained effort and mutual understanding, which, in turn, strengthens logistical processes and fosters better relationships between suppliers and initiatives.

Transparency

Trust and transparency are essential in SFSC initiatives. Suppliers highlight the importance of transparent data management, such as delivery notes and access to hubs to observe handling processes. A government agency states the importance of trust: "Reducing costs and increasing efficiency in SFSC initiatives ultimately relies on trust." Transparency in pricing and product traceability is crucial. For example, some SFSC initiatives maintain price transparency by clearly showing how much of the product price goes to the farmer, and the platform. In contrast, initiatives with less transparency can create confusion and dissatisfaction. Smaller initiatives, including some non-profits, tend to be more transparent with customers and suppliers, fostering trust and collaboration, while larger initiatives prioritise protecting their marketing strategies, resulting in less transparency and potential dissatisfaction. When external factors, such as supermarkets, pressure farmers to lower prices without negotiation, their options and control over sales diminish, resulting in reduced initial trust when they first participate in an SFSC initiative. Another type of transparency linked to food safety and the marketing skills of local suppliers involves using product transparency. Product transparency is enhanced through tools like QR codes, allowing consumers to trace origins, such as milk from specific cows. Certifications like Skal or Planetproof add transparency but are often seen as compliance measures rather than communication tools.

Communication

Communication between SFSC initiatives and local suppliers is described as generally effective and characterised by short lines and frequent interactions. Local suppliers highlight the importance of trust and open dialogue, often facilitated through direct and informal channels like phone calls, WhatsApp, emails, or face-to-face discussions. For instance, some initiatives maintain weekly contact to resolve operational issues and ensure smooth logistics, such as clear pick-up times or last-minute order adjustments. This consistency builds trust. Suppliers also emphasise the benefits of open meetings fostering a collaborative atmosphere. Smaller



initiatives are particularly valued for their straightforward communication and mutual appreciation of farmers' efforts. In contrast, larger or less transparent initiatives are criticised for one-sided communication or a lack of clarity in operations.

Pricing

Pricing emerged as an important factor influencing trust dynamics within SFSCs, despite not being explicitly included in the interview guide. Suppliers' perspectives highlight how pricing strategies and procurement structures vary across initiatives, shaping their satisfaction and trust. Local suppliers generally value pricing strategies that start with the farmer's set price, ensuring transparency and fairness. However, pricing-related frustrations also surfaced, particularly when SFSC initiatives demanded additional services or failed to communicate effectively. One local supplier noted issues with one SFSC initiative: "There's a clash with [SFSC initiative] over price. They dropped out on price and just didn't let us know, which was really rude."

Another local supplier raised concerns about cost pressures and delays in payments, highlighting that such practices eroded trust: "Despite the initiative's claims of supporting farmers, it pressures them into accepting lower prices and delays payments, using farmers' money for its own leverage." A third local supplier similarly noted the tension between effort and returns which, again, underscores the reciprocity between the effort and the gains. In contrast with these local suppliers, local supplier I appreciated fair pricing practices, stating: "[SFSC initiative] gives farmers a fair price, and we're very satisfied with that." It can be concluded that perceptions of pricing fairness are heterogeneous across different local suppliers. The overarching insight from these observations is that the implementation of fair pricing strategies enhances supplier satisfaction. However, this effect is influenced by the procurement strategy of an initiative, with initiatives that do not directly engage in purchasing being less directly affected. Nonetheless, they could still be impacted, particularly through dissatisfaction with the percentages added to farmers' prices, although this was mentioned only once.

The discussed SFSC initiative highlights that their pricing strategy, combined with collaborative planning, enhances supplier satisfaction and operational efficiency. As stated:

The yearly and cultivation planning ensures that we have more structured policies. Farmers might get slightly less, but they are happier because they know well in advance, allowing them to better plan their staffing and harvests.

However, suppliers expressed varied responses to this strategy. While one local supplier appreciated the security of long-term agreements, others felt constrained, perceiving it as



"squeezing." The balance of power between buyers and suppliers is particularly important among local suppliers. As one initiative explained:

Imagine you are an egg farmer selling more eggs to a single buyer. Over time, that buyer gains bargaining power and demands discounts because of the volume they purchase. This dynamic is similar with supermarkets, where they might say, 'If you don't supply at that price, I'll go elsewhere.' In that sense, this makes them [local suppliers] a vulnerable target group.

4.4 Capabilities

Table 9 represents a code-document analysis comparing the frequency with which capabilities are coded as positive or negative in the sentiment analysis across different local suppliers. The results reveal again high variability, in how capabilities are perceived. For instance, Local Supplier D exhibits the highest percentage of negative mentions at 75.00%, indicating significant challenges in their perceived capabilities. In contrast, Local Supplier C and Local Supplier G have the highest percentage of positive mentions, both at 77.78%, reflecting stronger confidence in their abilities.

		 Capabilities: Negative 84 	 Capabilities: Positive 113 	Totals
2: Transcript interview Local supplier A (3)	111	66,67%	33,33%	100,00%
3: Transcript interview Local supplier B (9)	116	41,67%	58,33%	100,00%
4: Transcript interview Local supplier C (9)	89	22,22%	77,78%	100,00%
5: Transcript interview Local supplier D (3)	180	75,00%	25,00%	100,00%
6: Transcript interview Local supplier E	107	63,64%	36,36%	100,00%
7: Transcript interview Local supplier F (1)	129	62,50%	37,50%	100,00%
8: Transcript interview Local supplier G (9)	114	22,22%	77,78%	100,00%
9: Transcript interview Local supplier H (1)	126	66,67%	33,33%	100,00%
10: Transcript interview Local supplier I	211	57,14%	42,86%	100,00%
11: Transcript interview Local supplier J (3)	114	50,00%	50,00%	100,00%
12: Transcript interview Local supplier K (3)	157	46,15%	53,85%	100,00%
Totals		52,17%	47,83%	100,00%

Table 9: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Capabilities

Overall, negative mentions of capabilities (52.17%) slightly outweigh positive mentions (47.83%), indicating a tendency toward identifying challenges or limitations. However, the distribution of perceptions varies considerably between suppliers, highlighting the diverse



experiences and self-assessments within the network. This variation underscores the importance of tailored strategies to enhance the capabilities of local suppliers.

Data Analytical Capabilities

Suppliers with advanced technological resources and analytical skills integrate more smoothly into SFSC platforms. For instance, younger farmers or those with digital tools are often better equipped to manage inventory, forecasts, and customer data, while others rely on external support from initiatives. SFSC initiative C highlighted the generational gap: "With the younger generation, you can often achieve more, because they understand it [systems in general] better." However, initiatives acknowledge this disparity and offer additional assistance to farmers with high-quality products but limited knowledge resources, ensuring their continued participation. Local suppliers with a high willingness to share information and strong reliability but lower capabilities express that they see value in sharing analytical information. However, they also acknowledge needing support to integrate this effectively. They are open to this idea, as reflected in the following statement by local supplier B, which also highlight the interplay between reciprocity, resource scarcity, and low DAC:

Ideally, meeting with a data analyst at regular intervals to review key insights and discuss what is working and what isn't would be very useful. We often manage many responsibilities, making data analysis a lower priority. Since it doesn't require immediate attention or deliver clear financial benefits, more urgent tasks, such as meeting customer needs, take priority.

This perspective is also mentioned by local supplier F, who notes: "Maybe farmers need more guidance or a little push". Similarly, local supplier J highlights their low self-perceived DAC, stating: "I would really need support from the initiative if they want that kind of information, because it's too complex. But I would be willing to share that information if I had it."

Management competencies

Management competencies among local suppliers are deeply influenced by their ability to navigate risks and adapt to an uncertain regulatory environment. Local suppliers with a higher level of management competencies, could better understand the value of information, related to their higher willingness to share information. When asked about the risks they foresee as organisations, local suppliers highlighted a combination of challenges at both the local and national levels. Local supplier C summarised this by stating: "I think risks are present both in the SFSC and at the national level. Farms are always in the spotlight." A recurring theme in the



interviews was the unclear and frequently changing regulations, which impact farmers' operations and decision-making processes. SFSC initiative A captured the implications of these regulatory shifts on trust and management stating that uncertainty from ever-changing regulations undermines trust among local suppliers, making it difficult to invest in information-sharing and long-term planning, as they struggle to adapt their businesses to shifting rules. One local supplier expressed uncertainty about whether the decision to enhance her competitive advantage by going organic would pay off: "And with the Dutch government pushing for more organic, we could end up selling below cost, as happens with conventional products." Although local suppliers were aware that these risks are inherent to entrepreneurship, the regulatory environment places additional burdens on farmers. They are required not only to manage their daily operations effectively but also to anticipate and adapt to external pressures. This uncertainty, combined with limited time and resources, hampers their ability to confidently engage in information-sharing systems and invest in innovative practices.

Marketing competencies

Marketing approaches among suppliers also differ, reflecting resource heterogeneity. As one supplier remarked: "He is more comfortable spending a ton on marketing, while I am more inclined to invest in machinery. We all have different priorities, but I believe that mix is what leads to success." These differences underline the importance of bundling their competencies in this heterogeneous environment to achieve collective success within SFSCs. The lower marketing competencies of local suppliers and their impact of their sustainability in SFSCs is explained by the government agency, stating that local suppliers in SFSCs often lack marketing skills and consumer engagement strategies, but with training and support, they can improve direct sales, gain pricing control, and build financial reserves for future transitions. These trainings aim to enhance local suppliers' capabilities and higher-level capabilities are related to higher levels of information sharing. Additionally, suppliers lacking in marketing and management competencies express their dependency on SFSC initiatives for support, showing a readiness to develop these areas.

Resource heterogeneity

The diversity in resources, both tangible, like technologies, and intangible, like trust and capabilities, shapes the dynamics of SFSCs. Local suppliers with strong reputations and connections, for example, attract consistent demand despite limited technological capabilities. Resource differences also influence suppliers' ability to manage information. Capabilities among local suppliers vary greatly, making personalisation an effective tool in addressing these



differences in increasing information sharing. A more mature SFSC initiative employs a strategy that focuses on personalised engagement with local farmers, emphasising collaborative planning based on each farmer's unique capabilities. They explain:

We also enjoy working with smaller farmers; we sit down with them at the end of the year or in early January to determine how many hectares they can cultivate for us. It's important to consider what a supplier is capable of. Not everyone can grow certain crops, like tomatoes without a greenhouse, and cauliflower turns out to be a challenging crop. So, we look at what the farmer can and wants to do. Some farmers prefer not to experiment and do the same thing every year, while others are open to trying something new. In this way, we make our plans together.

Local suppliers have indicated that they value this personalised approach, making it an important aspect of the initiative's strategy. Resource-rich suppliers often act as stabilising agents within the supply chain. For example, organic producers provide specialised products that complement bulk farming, allowing SFSCs to cater to diverse market segments. However, collaboration is only effective when the differences in suppliers' resources and experience are acknowledged. As one local supplier, with managerial functions in an initiative observed:

We do need each other. We need farmers because, without them, the platform wouldn't be very useful either. But we know what we bring to each other to achieve something.

SFSC initiatives show heterogeneity in technological support. Some provide dashboards to streamline supplier operations, while others focus on sales platforms, leaving procurement underdeveloped. One initiative highlighted the need for a farmer portal to validate deliveries: "We have primarily focused on the sales side in terms of IT development, and now we need to focus on the procurement side." Resource heterogeneity stems from the diverse needs of SFSC initiatives, which are themselves a result of varying levels of maturity of the SFSC initiatives.

Maturity

SFSC initiative maturity influences information-sharing dynamics among local suppliers. For example, local supplier C, despite high capabilities and willingness to share, notes limited information sharing due to a lack of specific requests from the initiative:

Our entire food safety system is integrated with computer systems, linked to a detailed log of production data, but this information is not collected specifically for the SFSC. We would be willing to share this information, but they haven't asked for it.



This underscores the role of SFSC initiative maturity in fostering information exchange and highlights information asymmetry between the potential for and actual information sharing, as initiatives focus only on certifications they deem sufficient. One less mature initiative confirmed: "We currently have all the information we need but are open to exploring future possibilities, such as production capacities and inventory data, which would support the platform's growth."

4.5 Results

Overall, the findings underscore the fragility of SFSC initiatives, with most failing to sustain long-term. Key challenges identified include the need for trust, robust information sharing, and balanced reciprocity between participants. Alongside transparent communicating, this will lead to decreased information asymmetry and increased information sharing. The key patterns in the findings can best be summarised as follows:

- Information sharing by local suppliers in SFSCs is minimal, as evidenced by only 18% of them exhibiting higher levels of information sharing (G, I). 100% of the local suppliers with lower willingness to share, lower trust, and lower capabilities exhibit low levels of information sharing (A, D, F).
- 80% of local suppliers with a high willingness to share, yet low levels of information sharing, encounter this issue due to information asymmetry, which is linked to the maturity level of the SFSC initiatives (B, C, J, K). Furthermore, 75% of these suppliers also possess higher capabilities, having valuable information (B, C, K).
- 100% of the local suppliers with higher capabilities are also willing to share information, as they are experienced and recognise the value of the information (B, C, G, K). Additionally, 100% of the local suppliers that possess lower capabilities and have a higher willingness to share, also have higher trust and would be willing to accept help to increase their capabilities (E, J).
- A clear understanding of mutual benefits and reciprocity boosts willingness to share information, as shown by 82% of local suppliers who are more willing when they perceive value and reciprocity in SFSC initiatives (A, B, D, F, G, H, I, J, K), validated by two SFSC initiatives and a government agency. Also, all local suppliers that demonstrate a lower willingness to share do so due to a lack of perceived benefits or reciprocity (A, D, F, H, I).



Chapter 5: Discussion

The discussion is structured as follows: firstly, it provides a conclusion that answers the empirical research questions. Subsequently, it outlines the theoretical contributions, examining the literature in relation to the conclusion based on the empirical findings obtained through semi-structured interviews and thematic analysis. Thereafter, managerial recommendations are presented to answer the problem statement, guide policymakers and SFSC practitioners in fostering information sharing within SFSCs. Finally, the chapter concludes by reflecting on the limitations of this master's thesis and proposing potential directions for future research.

5.1 Conclusion

The findings and results from Chapter 4 underscore the potential for SFSCs to adopt CPFR principles, while also addressing current limitations caused by the insufficient maturity of both SFSC initiatives and local suppliers. The conclusions provides answers to the empirical research questions of this master's thesis:

4. What factors drive and hinder participation and collaboration among SFSC stakeholders?

Trust, mutual benefits, and alignment with shared values, such as sustainability and local economic development, are key drivers of participation and collaboration among SFSC stakeholders. Trust fosters a willingness to share information and enhances supplier engagement, though actual information sharing depends on whether SFSC initiatives actively request and utilise the data. Factors such as fair pricing, transparency, and personalised support further encourage collaboration, especially when farmers perceive clear reciprocal benefits from their contributions. Suppliers are less inclined to collaborate when the perceived effort required outweighs the benefits, as frustrations over repetitive administrative demands or a lack of reciprocal effort from SFSC initiatives illustrate. Addressing these challenges and maintaining a balance between effort and reward is essential for sustaining collaboration within SFSCs.

5. Under what conditions does information sharing improve due to enhanced trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information in SFSCs?

Trust increases with transparency in pricing and operations, clear mutual benefits, and through informal communication in less mature SFSCs, while integrating technology with personal engagement is necessary in mature ones. Access to technology like supplier portals enhances capabilities and eases information sharing, particularly when initiatives invest in developing



suppliers' data analysis, management, and marketing capabilities, tailored to their heterogenous resources. Furthermore, a clear understanding of mutual benefits and reciprocity further enhances the willingness to share information.

5.2 Theoretical contributions

The empirical findings are consistent with the existing literature. Information sharing in SFSCs often relies on informal, ad hoc methods like WhatsApp and email, reflecting limited technological adoption similar to findings by Paciarotti and Torregiani (2020). While theoretical models suggest structured, real-time data frameworks like CPFR (Fliedner, 2003), actual implementation lags due to digital infrastructure deficits (Paciarotti & Torregiani, 2020). While low level information, like prices, operational information, is shared, strategic and sustainability data remain under wraps because of transparency concerns and workload issues. Despite recommendations from Yuan et al. (2023) for adopting digital tools such as IoT and blockchain, their implementation does not endure within SFSCs. However, Wiengarten et al. (2010) suggest that even low-quality data can enhance performance, indicating the potential benefits of scalable, low-technology solutions. Empirical data shows gaps in information sharing, often from a failure to explicitly request information or ignorance of what other supply chain partners hold, leading to negative effects from information asymmetry (Clarkson et al., 2007). However, proactive information sharing can mitigate these effects (Shen et al., 2018). The literature also confirms that sharing fosters trust, enhancing further information exchange (Cai et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2008; Pooe et al., 2015), echoing sentiments from an SFSC initiative that sharing leads to reciprocal information flow. These factors are crucial for effective information sharing.

The findings highlight the importance of trust in SFSCs, aligning with Huo and Jiang's (2007) observation that trust deficits inhibit information sharing due to fears of data misuse. Trust appears highly dynamic and varies greatly, not just between suppliers but within the same supplier's different relationships across SFSC initiatives, aligning with the importance of trust-building measures like transparent governance and fair profit-sharing (Karadayi-Usta, 2019). Additionally, consistent with Mohr and Sohi (1995), the frequency and quality of communication are key in building trust. Yet, communication barriers, such as a poor understanding of SFSC platforms, can erode trust. Pricing emerged as a critical but underexplored factor influencing trust and collaboration. While the literature acknowledges transparency's role in fostering trust (Vittersø et al., 2019), this study reveals how pricing strategies shape perceptions of fairness and reciprocity.



The findings challenge the traditional distinction between zero-level and higher-level capabilities (Song and Liao, 2018), revealing that SFSC participants require both, such as inventory management and DAC. Local suppliers vary in capabilities; those with higher DAC are more willing to share information, consistent with Nisar et al. (2022) on data-driven decision-making. However, even highly capable suppliers struggle to fully develop advanced capabilities that involve skill integration and adaptation to changing environments (Song and Liao, 2018). Local suppliers relying on manual forecast methods show a lack of capabilities. Local suppliers deficient in marketing and management competencies often depend on SFSC initiatives for growth, indicating a need for targeted support and competency development as emphasised by Charatsari et al. (2019).

The findings highlight that the willingness to share information within SFSCs is influenced by trust, perceived mutual benefits, and resource availability, supporting Zaheer and Trkman's (2017) focus on reciprocity but also noting SFSC-specific challenges. For example, hesitance to share critical data like production plans arises from fear of exploitation and power imbalances. Moreover, the thesis finds that the readiness to share varies with the maturity of the SFSC initiative. More mature initiatives that offer clear benefits, such as collaborative planning, tend to see greater information sharing from local suppliers, resonating with the literature on mutual advantages (Fawcett et al., 2007).

RBV, SET, and ANT

This thesis responds to Zaheer and Trkman's (2017) call that information sharing should be derived from an unifying theory, which is crucial and underexplored. The findings align with and extend Resource-Based View (RBV), Social Exchange Theory (SET), and Actor-Network Theory (ANT). The primary objective of linking RBV, SET, and ANT, to SFSC literature is to uncover how SFSC dynamics align with and extend its principles by integrating these theoretical views. The secondary objective is to enhance RBV, SET, and ANT itself by expanding the theories with a new context, SFSCs. In Appendix 6, the analysis of the theoretical contribution is presented, concluding that, to the best of my knowledge, these theories have not previously been applied to the specific context of SFSCs.

RBV is typically considered an internal perspective aimed at achieving a competitive advantage through the possession and deployment of valuable, rare, inimitable, and organised resources (Barney, 1991). Barney (2012) argues that heterogeneous SCM capabilities, within the logic of markets, can enable competitive advantages towards other markets. Applying RBV to the



context of SFSC connects to the "hypotheses that suggest why it is sometimes difficult for one firm to achieve the same high levels of economic value created by another firm, even when those firms are operating in approximately the same markets or industries" (Barney et al., 2021, p. 1938). Addressing the perceived resource heterogeneity to create competitive advantages over traditional food suppliers is what connects the RBV to SFSCs. Additionally, it has been noted that further exploration is needed regarding the connection between RBV and network theory (Barney et al., 2021). Burt and Soda (2021) link network theory to RBV, suggesting that network brokers (such as SFSC initiatives) play a strategic role by bridging different parts of the market (SFSCs). This enables organisations (e.g. local suppliers) to exploit new opportunities and integrate diverse resources (such as capabilities, trust and willingness to share) effectively. Moreover, as Law (1992, p. 389) notes, ANT advances further as a "relational and process-oriented sociology that treats agents, organisations, and devices as interactive effects". Thus, in the framework that discusses integration of diverse resources as seen in RBV, objects, ideas, processes, and other relevant entities are acknowledged as crucial in co-creating social scenarios alongside human actors (Law, 1992). Law (1992) emphasises that both physical resources (such as agricultural products and computers) and intangible resources (such as knowledge, cultural values and community relationships) together form a network (SFSC). Thus, in the context of SFSCs, each element contributes to the functionality and resilience of the system, with the interaction and equivalence between these resources being crucial to the chain's success. Building on this sociological foundation, a third theory relevant to this context is SET, underpinned by four key assumptions that are highly applicable to the reciprocal context of SFSCs (Burns, 1973, p. 88):

- "Social behaviour can be explained in terms of rewards, where rewards are goods or services, tangible or intangible, that satisfy a person's needs or goals."
- "Individuals attempt to maximise rewards and minimise losses or punishments."
- "Social interaction results from the fact that others control valuables or necessities and can therefore reward a person. In order to induce another to reward him, a person has to provide rewards to the other in return."
- "Social interaction is thus viewed as an exchange of mutually rewarding activities in which the receipt of a needed valuable (good or service) is contingent on the supply of a favour in return (usually/ immediate)."

In summary, these frameworks help interpret SFSC dynamics and derive actionable insights, based on testable hypotheses.



5.3 Managerial recommendations

As we delve into the managerial recommendations, a comprehensive answer is provided to the problem statement:

How can trust, capabilities, and the willingness to share information be enhanced to foster information sharing in SFSCs?

To enhance trust, capabilities, and willingness to share information in SFSCs, several strategies can be employed. Mutual benefits and reciprocity clearly foster trust and increase the willingness to share information. Providing training and valuable insights can boost supplier capabilities and confidence in data-sharing, which reinforces trust. This approach not only addresses concerns about suppliers being replaceable but also enhances the competitive advantages of local suppliers over traditional food suppliers.

Investing in technological tools such as supplier portals and dashboards improves the efficiency of information sharing. It is crucial to develop local suppliers' analytical, managerial, and marketing capabilities, given they lack the capabilities for CPFR. SFSC initiatives should prioritise incremental resource-building strategies, starting with achievable goals and gradually progressing towards comprehensive CPFR implementation, as detailed in Appendix 7 (Veelenturf et al., 2001).

SFSC initiatives can further enhance trust by promoting transparency and sharing key data such as forecasts and market demand trends, which empowers suppliers and encourages them to share more willingly. Aligning SFSC goals with supplier interests fosters a shared vision, reduces conflicts, and promotes collaboration. Addressing information asymmetry through open dialogue and clear communication about operational processes, pricing, and mutual benefits is crucial, as noted by Lotfi et al. (2013). It clarifies expectations and allows stakeholders to agree on accessible information. Essential to managing this asymmetry, SFSC initiatives must determine what information to share, who the recipients are, how sharing should occur, and the timing of sharing. Maintaining an appropriate formality in communication channels, such as WhatsApp or portals, with a personal approach helps build lasting relationships where suppliers feel valued and respected, thereby enhancing their willingness to collaborate (Mohr & Sohi, 1995).

Together, these strategies create a feedback loop where trust, capabilities, and willingness are mutually reinforced, fostering a sustainable culture of information sharing within SFSCs aligned with the goals of CPFR. Recognising that not every SFSC is identical or at the same



level of maturity, initiatives that excel in certain areas may not need to focus further on those, based on their self-perceived capabilities, which enhance the generalisability of recommendations. Additionally, the focus on the diverse differences in trust, capabilities, and willingness, as well as the boundary conditions of information sharing, further contributes to the generalisability. The integration of RBV, SET, and ANT provides a comprehensive roadmap for tackling both practical and theoretical challenges in SFSCs.

5.4 Limitations and future research directions

This thesis, which involved 15 interviews with local suppliers, SFSC initiatives, and one government agency, provided valuable insights into the dynamics of information sharing within SFSCs. However, several limitations impact the generalisability and robustness of the findings. The heterogeneity and limited size of the interview sample pose challenges, as a sample of 15 interviews is often insufficient to achieve data saturation in complex settings, limiting the capture of a full spectrum of perspectives and themes (Bekele & Ago, 2022). Although smaller samples can still yield valuable insights for exploratory studies, especially in complex social phenomena (Crouch & McKenzie, 2006), future research should aim to expand the sample size to enhance the robustness of the findings and provide more nuanced interpretations of dynamics within SFSCs. Also, the overlap among interviewed local suppliers participating in multiple SFSC initiatives provided a comparative perspective but limited the independence of cases and complicated cross-case analysis. Future studies should use a multi-case study approach with fully independent cases to mitigate biases and better understand diverse practices and challenges within SFSCs. It would be particularly valuable if this were part of a longitudinal study, as it would offer deeper insights into how trust, capabilities, and willingness, evolve, impacting information sharing and collaboration within SFSCs over time.

Lastly, exploring other supply chain contexts not yet linked to RBV, SET, or ANT could reveal valuable insights, as demonstrated in this master's thesis for the context of SFSCs. Hypotheses testing could lead to new applications of existing theoretical frameworks, further enriching our understanding of supply chain dynamics across different settings.



References

- Adams, W. C. (2015). Conducting Semi-Structured Interviews (Handbook of Practical Program Evaluation, Fourth, pp. 492–505). https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119171386.ch19
- Ainslie, M., Corvini, M., & Chadbourne, J. (2023). Assumptions, perceptions, and Experiences of Behavioral Health Providers using Telemedicine: Qualitative study. *JMIR Formative Research*, 7, e48232. https://doi.org/10.2196/48232
- Akkermans, H., Bogerd, P., & Van Doremalen, J. (2003). Travail, transparency and trust: A case study of computer-supported collaborative supply chain planning in high-tech electronics. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 153(2), 445–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0377-2217(03)00164-4
- Annosi, M. C., Brunetta, F., Bimbo, F., & Kostoula, M. (2021). Digitalization within food supply chains to prevent food waste. Drivers, barriers and collaboration practices. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 93, 208–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2021.01.005
- Audy, J., Lehoux, N., D'Amours, S., & Rönnqvist, M. (2010). A framework for an efficient implementation of logistics collaborations. *International Transactions in Operational Research*, 19(5), 633–657. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-3995.2010.00799.x
- Badraoui, I., Van Der Lans, I. A., Boulaksil, Y., & Van Der Vorst, J. G. (2023). Horizontal logistics collaboration success factors: expectations versus reality. *Benchmarking an International Journal*, 31(1), 29–52. https://doi.org/10.1108/bij-04-2022-0274
- Badraoui, I., Van Der Vorst, J. G., & Boulaksil, Y. (2019). Horizontal logistics collaboration:
 an exploratory study in Morocco's agri-food supply chains. *International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications*, 23(1), 85–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/13675567.2019.1604646



- Bag, S., Wood, L. C., Xu, L., Dhamija, P., & Kayikci, Y. (2019). Big data analytics as an operational excellence approach to enhance sustainable supply chain performance. *Resources Conservation and Recycling*, 153, 104559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104559
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of Management*, 17(1), 99–120. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639101700108
- Barney, J. B. (2012). Purchasing, supply chain management and sustained competitive advantage: the relevance of resource-based theory. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 48(2), 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-493x.2012.03265.x
- Barney, J. B., Ketchen, D. J., & Wright, M. (2021). Resource-Based Theory and the Value Creation framework. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1936–1955. https://doi.org/10.1177/01492063211021655
- Barratt, M., Choi, T. Y., & Li, M. (2010). Qualitative case studies in operations management: Trends, research outcomes, and future research implications. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29(4), 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2010.06.002
- Bekele, W. B., & Ago, F. Y. (2022). Sample size for interview in Qualitative Research in Social Sciences: A Guide to Novice Researchers. *Research in Educational Policy and Management*, 4(1), 42–50. https://doi.org/10.46303/repam.2022.3
- Borsotto, P., Cagliero, R., Giarè, F., Giordani, G., Iacono, R., Manetti, I., & Sardone, R. (2023).
 Measuring Short Food Supply Chain Sustainability: A Selection of Attributes and Indicators through a Qualitative Approach. *Agriculture*, 13(3), 646. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture13030646
- Burgess, P. R., & Sunmola, F. T. (2021). PRIORITISING REQUIREMENTS OF INFORMATIONAL SHORT FOOD SUPPLY CHAIN PLATFORMS USING a



FUZZY APPROACH. Procedia Computer Science, 180, 852–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2021.01.335

- Burns, T. (1973). A structural theory of social exchange. *Acta Sociologica*, *16*(3), 188–208. https://doi.org/10.1177/000169937301600303
- Burt, R. S., & Soda, G. (2021). Network capabilities: Brokerage as a bridge between network theory and the Resource-Based View of the firm. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1698– 1719. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320988764
- Cai, S., Goh, M., De Souza, R., & Li, G. (2012). Knowledge sharing in collaborative supply chains: twin effects of trust and power. *International Journal of Production Research*, 51(7), 2060–2076. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2012.701780
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41(5), 545–547. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.onf.545-547
- Charatsari, C., Kitsios, F., & Lioutas, E. D. (2019). Short food supply chains: the link between participation and farmers' competencies. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 35(6), 643–652. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1742170519000309
- Cheng, J., Yeh, C., & Tu, C. (2008). Trust and knowledge sharing in green supply chains. *Supply Chain Management an International Journal*, *13*(4), 283–295. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540810882170
- Childe, S., & Soares, A. (2022). Handbook of Research Methods for Supply Chain Management. In Edward Elgar Publishing eBooks. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788975865
- Clarkson, G., Jacobsen, T. E., & Batcheller, A. L. (2007). Information asymmetry and information sharing. *Government Information Quarterly*, 24(4), 827–839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2007.08.001



- Colicchia, C., Creazza, A., Noè, C., & Strozzi, F. (2018). Information sharing in supply chains:
 a review of risks and opportunities using the systematic literature network analysis
 (SLNA). Supply Chain Management an International Journal, 24(1), 5–21.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/scm-01-2018-0003
- Crouch, M., & McKenzie, H. (2006). The logic of small samples in interview-based qualitative research. *Social Science Information*, 45(4), 483–499. https://doi.org/10.1177/0539018406069584
- Davenport, T. H., & Harris, J. G. (2007). Competing on analytics: The New Science of Winning. Harvard Business Press.
- Du, X. F., Leung, S. C., Zhang, J. L., & Lai, K. (2009). Procurement of agricultural products using the CPFR approach. *Supply Chain Management an International Journal*, 14(4), 253–258. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540910970081
- Durrant, A., Markovic, M., Matthews, D., May, D., Leontidis, G., & Enright, J. (2021). How might technology rise to the challenge of data sharing in agri-food? *Global Food Security*, 28, 100493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2021.100493
- EIP-AGRI Focus Group. (2015). Innovative short food supply chain management. In EIP-AGRI FOCUS GROUP INNOVATIVE SHORT FOOD SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT. https://ec.europa.eu/eip/agriculture/sites/default/files/eip-

 $agri_fg_innovative_food_supply_chain_management_final_report_2015_en.pdf$

- Eksoz, C., Mansouri, S. A., Bourlakis, M., & Önkal, D. (2018). Judgmental adjustments through supply integration for strategic partnerships in food chains. *Omega*, 87, 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2018.11.007
- Ellinger, A. D., & McWhorter, R. (2016). Qualitative case study research as empirical inquiry. *International Journal of Adult Vocational Education and Technology*, 7(3), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijavet.2016070101



- Enthoven, L., Skambracks, M., & Van Den Broeck, G. (2023). Improving the design of local short food supply chains: Farmers' views in Wallonia, Belgium. Journal of Rural Studies, 97, 573–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2023.01.016
- European Union, 2013. Regulation (EU) No. 1305/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 December 2013 on support for rural development by the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD) and repealing Council Regulation (EC) No 1698/2005. EUR –Lex. Edition OJ L 347, 4 87–54 8
- Evans, A. M., & Revelle, W. (2008). Survey and behavioral measurements of interpersonal trust. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(6), 1585–1593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.07.011
- Fawcett, S. E., Osterhaus, P., Magnan, G. M., Brau, J. C., & McCarter, M. W. (2007). Information sharing and supply chain performance: the role of connectivity and willingness. *Supply Chain Management an International Journal*, *12*(5), 358–368. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540710776935
- Fliedner, G. (2003). CPFR: an emerging supply chain tool. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 103(1), 14–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/02635570310456850
- Gamarra, P., Girotto, M., & Seguí, L. A. (2019). MANAGERIAL COMPETENCIES IN THE
 21ST CENTURY: A BIBLIOGRAPHIC REVIEW OF THE RESEARCH DOMAIN.
 EDULEARN Proceedings, 1, 3733–3742. https://doi.org/10.21125/edulearn.2019.0970
- Gardner, B. L. (1975). The Farm-Retail price spread in a competitive food industry. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, *57*(3), 399–409. https://doi.org/10.2307/1238402
- Griffith, D. A., Harvey, M. G., & Lusch, R. F. (2005). Social exchange in supply chain relationships: The resulting benefits of procedural and distributive justice. *Journal of Operations Management*, 24(2), 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2005.03.003



- Hamprecht, J., Corsten, D., Noll, M., & Meier, E. (2005). Controlling the sustainability of food supply chains. Supply Chain Management an International Journal, 10(1), 7–10. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540510578315
- Hill, C. A., Zhang, G. P., & Miller, K. E. (2017). Collaborative planning, forecasting, and replenishment & firm performance: An empirical evaluation. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 196, 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.11.012
- Hoffmann, E. A. (2007). Open-Ended interviews, power, and emotional labor. Journal of Contemporary Ethnography, 36(3), 318–346. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891241606293134
- Huo, Y., & Jiang, X. (2007). Research on CPFR and Warehousing Management: A Method to Enhance Supply Chain Visibility. *International Conference on Wireless Communications, Networking and Mobile Computing*, 4645–4648. https://doi.org/10.1109/wicom.2007.1141
- In, J., Bradley, R., Bichescu, B. C., & Autry, C. W. (2018). Supply chain information governance: toward a conceptual framework. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 30(2), 506–526. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijlm-05-2017-0132
- Johansson, R. (2007). On case study methodology. *Open House International*, *32*(3), 48–54. https://doi.org/10.1108/ohi-03-2007-b0006
- Kakhki, M. D., Rea, A., & Deiranlou, M. (2022). Data analytics dynamic capabilities for TripleA supply chains. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 123(2), 534–555.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/imds-03-2022-0167
- Kalpokas, N. (2024, August 19). Sentiment analysis in ATLAS.ti Web. ATLAS.ti. https://atlasti.com/research-hub/sentiment-analysis-in-atlas-ti-web



- Karadayi-Usta, S. (2019). An Interpretive Structural fuzzy Analysis for CPFR Implementation Barriers: A food Supply chain case study. In *Advances in intelligent systems and computing* (pp. 423–431). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-23756-1_53
- Kokkinou, A., Quak, H., & Mandemakers, A. (2024). Driving digital transformation : enablers and inhibitors of data analytic capability in transportation and logistics companies.
 BUas Research Portal. https://pure.buas.nl/en/publications/driving-digitaltransformation-enablers-and-inhibitors-of-data-an
- Kraaijvanger, B., Van Enckevort, P., & Wilms, G. (2021). De Korte Keten Ontwikkelingen en Stimulering.
- Kwon, I. G., & Suh, T. (2004). Factors affecting the level of trust and commitment in supply chain relationships. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 40(1), 4–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-493x.2004.tb00165.x
- Lankauskienė, R., Vidickienė, D., & Gedminaitė-Raudonė, Ž. (2022). Evolution of Short Food Supply Chain Theory and Practice: Two-Sided Networks and Platforms. *Energies*, 15(3), 1137. https://doi.org/10.3390/en15031137
- Law, J. (1992). Notes on the theory of the actor-network: Ordering, strategy, and heterogeneity. *Systems Practice*, *5*(4), 379–393. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01059830
- Lee, K. S., & Chavis, D. M. (2011). Cross-case methodology: bringing rigour to community and systems change research and evaluation. Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 22(5), 428–438. https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.1131
- Liu, C., Xiang, X., & Zheng, L. (2019). Value of information sharing in a multiple producers– distributor supply chain. Annals of Operations Research, 285(1–2), 121–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-019-03259-2



- Lotfi, Z., Mukhtar, M., Sahran, S., & Zadeh, A. T. (2013). Information sharing in supply chain management. *Procedia Technology*, *11*, 298–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protcy.2013.12.194
- Lummus, R. R., Krumwiede, D. W., & Vokurka, R. J. (2001). The relationship of logistics to supply chain management: developing a common industry definition. *Industrial Management* & *Data Systems*, 101(8), 426–432. https://doi.org/10.1108/02635570110406730
- Mageto, J., & Luke, R. (2020). Skills frameworks: A focus on supply chains. Journal of Transport and Supply Chain Management, 14. https://doi.org/10.4102/jtscm.v14i0.458
- Makadok, R., Burton, R., & Barney, J. (2018). A practical guide for making theory contributions in strategic management. *Strategic Management Journal*, 39(6), 1530– 1545. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2789
- Mirkovski, K., Davison, R. M., & Martinsons, M. G. (2019). The effects of trust and distrust on ICT-enabled information sharing in supply chains. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, *ahead-of-print*(ahead-of-print). https://doi.org/10.1108/ijlm-06-2017-0155
- Michel-Villarreal, R., Vilalta-Perdomo, E. L., Canavari, M., & Hingley, M. (2021). Resilience and Digitalization in Short Food Supply Chains: A Case study approach. Sustainability, 13(11), 5913. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13115913
- Mohr, J. J., & Sohi, R. S. (1995). Communication flows in distribution channels: Impact on assessments of communication quality and satisfaction. *Journal of Retailing*, 71(4), 393–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4359(95)90020-9
- Naeem, M., Ozuem, W., Howell, K., & Ranfagni, S. (2023). A Step-by-Step process of thematic analysis to develop a conceptual model in qualitative research. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 22. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069231205789



- Nimmy, N., Chilkapure, A., & Pillai, V. M. (2019). Literature review on supply chain collaboration: comparison of various collaborative techniques. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, 16(4), 537–562. https://doi.org/10.1108/jamr-10-2018-0087
- Nisar, Q. A., Haider, S., Ameer, I., Hussain, M. S., Gill, S. S., & Usama, A. (2022). Sustainable supply chain management performance in post COVID-19 era in an emerging economy: a big data perspective. *International Journal of Emerging Markets*, *18*(12), 5900–5920. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijoem-12-2021-1807
- Noble, H., & Heale, R. (2019). Triangulation in research, with examples. Evidence-Based Nursing, 22(3), 67–68. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145
- OCLC. (2024, September 27). WorldCat: World's most comprehensive database of library collections / OCLC. https://www.oclc.org/en/worldcat.html
- Özer, Ö., Zheng, Y., & Chen, K. (2011). Trust in forecast information sharing. Management Science, 57(6), 1111–1137. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1110.1334
- Paciarotti, C., & Torregiani, F. (2020). The logistics of the short food supply chain: A literature review. Sustainable Production and Consumption, 26, 428–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.10.002
- Pooe, D., Mafini, C., & Loury-Okoumba, V. W. (2015). The influence of information sharing, supplier trust and supplier synergy on supplier performance: The case of small and medium enterprises. *Journal of Transport and Supply Chain Management*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.4102/jtscm.v9i1.187
- Richey, R. G., Morgan, T. R., Lindsey-Hall, K., & Adams, F. G. (2016). A global exploration of Big Data in the supply chain. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 46(8), 710–739. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijpdlm-05-2016-0134
- Shen, B., Choi, T., & Minner, S. (2018). A review on supply chain contracting with information considerations: information updating and information asymmetry. *International*



Journal of Production Research, 57(15–16), 4898–4936. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1467062

- Sodhi, M. S., & Tang, C. S. (2017). Corporate social sustainability in supply chains: a thematic analysis of the literature. *International Journal of Production Research*, 56(1–2), 882– 901. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1388934
- Song, M., & Liao, Y. (2018). Information sharing, operations capabilities, market intelligence responsiveness and firm performance. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 14(1), 58–78. https://doi.org/10.1108/bjm-04-2018-0156
- Stewart, L. (2024, December 7). *Co-Occurrence Analysis with ATLAS.ti Desktop*. ATLAS.ti. https://atlasti.com/research-hub/co-occurrence-analysis-with-atlas-ti
- Stuart, F. I., Verville, J., & Taskin, N. (2012). Trust in buyer-supplier relationships. Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 25(4), 392–412. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410391211245856
- Thomé, K. M., Cappellesso, G., Ramos, E. L. A., & De Lima Duarte, S. C. (2020). Food Supply Chains and Short Food Supply Chains: Coexistence conceptual framework. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 278, 123207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123207
- Van Beusekom Thoolen, P., Holmes, P., Jansen, W., Vos, B., & De Boer, A. (2023). Interdisciplinary challenges associated with rapid response in the food supply chain. *Supply Chain Management an International Journal*, 29(3), 444–459. https://doi.org/10.1108/scm-01-2023-0040
- Van Looy, A., De Backer, M., & Poels, G. (2012). A conceptual framework and classification of capability areas for business process maturity. *Enterprise Information Systems*, 8(2), 188–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/17517575.2012.688222
- Veelenturf, I., Bech, S., Langreder, S., Daenens, P., Suefke, H., Lewis, C., Lermant, J.-C., Scheele, J. W., Teygeler, H., Recke, K., Bremant, C., Jarvis, M., Cuthbertson, R.,



Marzian, R., Garriga, E., Taylor, T., Björkqvist, M., Worsey, P., Simpson, H., . . . Jackson, G. (2001). *A guide to CPFR implementation*.

- Vittersø, G., Torjusen, H., Laitala, K., Tocco, B., Biasini, B., Csillag, P., De Labarre, M. D., Lecoeur, J., Maj, A., Majewski, E., Malak-Rawlikowska, A., Menozzi, D., Török, Á., & Wavresky, P. (2019). Short Food Supply Chains and Their Contributions to Sustainability: Participants' Views and Perceptions from 12 European Cases. *Sustainability*, *11*(17), 4800. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11174800
- Volpentesta, A. P., & Ammirato, S. (2012). Alternative agrifood networks in a regional area: a case study. *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 26(1–2), 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/0951192x.2012.681911
- Wiengarten, F., Humphreys, P., Cao, G., Fynes, B., & McKittrick, A. (2010). Collaborative supply chain practices and performance: exploring the key role of information quality. *Supply Chain Management an International Journal*, *15*(6), 463–473. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541011080446
- Yu, W., Wong, C. Y., Chavez, R., & Jacobs, M. A. (2021). Integrating big data analytics into supply chain finance: The roles of information processing and data-driven culture. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 236, 108135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108135
- Yu, W., Zhao, G., Liu, Q., & Song, Y. (2020). Role of big data analytics capability in developing integrated hospital supply chains and operational flexibility: An organizational information processing theory perspective. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 163, 120417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120417
- Yuan, C. W., Bi, N., Lin, Y., Lu, A. P., & Chiang, T. (2023). Farm to Table: Understanding Collaboration and Information Practices among Stakeholders in the Process of Produce



Production, Sales, and Consumption. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 7(CSCW1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1145/3579486

- Zaheer, N., & Trkman, P. (2017). An information sharing theory perspective on willingness to share information in supply chains. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 28(2), 417–443. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijlm-09-2015-0158
- Zhu, X., & Yang, Y. (2021). Big data analytics for improving financial performance and sustainability. 系统科学与信息学报(英文), 9(2), 175–191.

https://doi.org/10.21078/jssi-2021-175-17



Appendix 1: Information categories

This appendix contains Table 10, that illustrates various categories of data points and measurement methods within the supply chain. These served as a reference framework during the interviews, providing a basis for understanding the type of information discussed. The data points are based on research by Fliedner (2003) and Liu et al. (2019), and on input from a director of an SFSC initiative, derived from their email response to an inquiry regarding the information they would desire to enhance collaboration.

Category	Data point	Measurement method	Overarching indicator
Inventory information	Batch information	Production period, location, batch number, inventory level	Traceability, food safety
Product information	Product information	Weight, size, nutritional value, shelf life, prices	Product quality, nutritional value
Capacity information	Capacity	Production capacity, inventory capacity	Capacity
Sustainability information	Soil quality	Soil analysis (pH, nutrients, organic matter)	Soil health, biodiversity
	Pesticide use	Type, quantity, frequency	Environmental impact, food safety
	Biodiversity	Species richness, number of species, presence of indicator species	Ecological sustainability
	Climate impact	CO2 emissions, methane emissions per product/batch	Carbon footprint, climate efficiency
	Water consumption	Water use per hectare/per product	Water use efficiency, sustainability
	Energy consumption	Energy consumption per hectare/per product (kWh)	Energy efficiency, sustainability
	Sustainable practices	Use of organic farming, regenerative methods	Sustainability level, environmental friendliness
	Certifications and standards	Certified standards	Compliance level, sustainability
	Welfare standards	Applied standards for animal welfare, social audits	Animal welfare, social sustainability
Strategic information	Planning	Production forecasts, supply planning, demand planning, inventory	Market responsiveness, supply chain agility
	Agreements	Joint business plans, front-end partnership agreements	Long-term forecasting
	Financial	Sales data	Profitability
	Employment	Number of jobs, working hours, working conditions	Social sustainability

Table 10: Information categories



Working conditions	Number of incidents, employee reviews, audits	Welfare standards, social engagement
Use of technology	Technologies used	Resources
Precision agriculture	Use of sensors, drones, GIS data	Efficiency, sustainability



Appendix 2: Interviewee distribution

The distribution of local suppliers across the different initiatives is presented in Table 11 in a comprehensive manner. An 'X' indicates affiliation with the initiative, while an 'O' represents prior experience with the initiative, either through affiliation or discussions that did not result in further collaboration. To ensure anonymity, the numbering in Table 11 does not correspond to the lettering assigned to local suppliers and SFSC initiatives in the results section. The analysis of the distribution of local suppliers across the SFSC initiatives shows an even representation. This balance provides a strong basis for analysing perspectives and dynamics within these chains.

Local suppliers (not in order)	SFSC initiative 1	SFSC initiative 2	SFSC initiative 3
Local supplier 1	Х	Х	Х
Local supplier 2	Х	Х	Х
Local supplier 3	Х	Х	Х
Local supplier 4	Х		Х
Local supplier 5	0		Х
Local supplier 6		Х	Х
Local supplier 7		0	Х
Local supplier 8		0	Х
Local supplier 9	Х		
Local supplier 10		Х	
Local supplier 11			Х

Table 11: Interviewee distribution



Appendix 3: Coding scheme

Table 12 outlines the coding scheme developed for the study, presenting key themes, definitions derived from the literature review, and representative quotes derived from the collected data.

Themes/ codes	Definition	Representative quotes		
I: Information sharing				
Willingness to share information	"Willingness to share information with SC partners can be defined as a company's openness to sharing relevant information honestly and frequently and to making strategic and tactical data available to SC partners." (Zaheer & Trkman 2017 p. 419)	"We're willing to share because the information is valuable, but they haven't asked for it."		
Trust	"Trust is a psychological state comprising the intention to accept vulnerability based upon the positive expectations of the intentions or behaviour of another." (Evans & Revelle, 2008, p. 1585)	"It's largely based on trust and the collaboration you have with each other. And I believe they treat me honestly."		
Capabilities	"Zero-level capabilities refer to ordinary capabilities – the ability to maintain daily operations in the short term, whereas dynamic capabilities are considered as higher-level capabilities to sustain competitive advantages in the long term." (Song & Liao, 2018, p. 60)	"It's a big task, and I certainly can't do it myself. I would really need support from the initiative if they want that kind of information, because it's too complex."		
Information sharing	"Information sharing means distributing useful information for systems, people or organizational units." (Lotfi et al., 2013, p. 300)	"We don't share the planning or the forecast of the supply we might receive with anyone. If it fails, we'll raise the issue and communicate it."		
II: Willingness to sh	are information			
Reciprocity	Reciprocity in information sharing context "means that A will be willing to share information so long as B also provides information of the same value in exchange." (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017, p. 421)	"Convincing farmers to participate in data analysis happens when they see the benefit. If they realize they can make money from it or that it adds value, they'll be more likely to join in."		
III: Trust				
Transparency	"Refers to whether the acquisition process and the content of the information is clear or open." (Yuan et al., 2023, p. 15)	"We're happy with smaller initiatives that appreciate the farmer and allow for clear communication, rather than one- sided contracts with no transparency, like with the traditional food supply chain."		

Table 12: Coding scheme



Communication	The communication frequency and the communication channels.	"The lines of communication are very short, which is really great. A quick phone call or a visit solves issues effectively."
Pricing (new code)	The pricing policies of SFSC initiatives. (Gardner, 1975)	"Farmers might get slightly less, but they are happier because they know well in advance, allowing them to better plan their staffing and harvests."
IV: Capabilities		
Data Analytical Capabilities	"Maintaining and developing routines required for using DA to develop business insights that is aligned with business needs and priorities." (Kakhki et al., 2022, p. 541)	"We use data-analysis mostly internal, for example, with the path registration, which helps us with staff planning."
Management competencies	"A set of motivations, personal, traits, abilities, knowledge and values necessary to improve management performance." (Gamarra et al., 2019, p. 1)	"Participating in the initiative is about spreading the risk, so you're not reliant on a single buyer. Plus, it allows you to set a different price for yourself compared to selling in bulk."
Marketing competencies	"Help managers understand various customer segments and their requirements and plan to meet the identified needs." (Mageto & Luke, 2020, p. 12)	"We're big supporters of word-of- mouth marketing, it's the most reliable, though it takes the longest."
Resource heterogeneity (new code)	Resource heterogeneity is the heterogeneous distribution, across firms, of "all assets, capabilities, organizational processes, firm attributes, information, knowledge, etc. controlled by a firm that enable the firm to conceive of and implement strategies that improve its efficiency and effectiveness." (Barney, 1991, p. 101)	"We know what we bring to each other to achieve something. We're not ICT experts, and they're not farmers."
Maturity (new code)	"A measure to indicate how excellent business processes can perform." (Van Looy et al., 2012, p. 189)	"We currently have all the information we need but are open to exploring future possibilities, such as production capacities and inventory data, which would support the platform's growth."



Appendix 4: Interview guides

Interview guide local supplier

Part A: Introduction Name: Company name: Consent for audio recording:

Objectives: The overarching aim of my research is to enhance the efficiency of the short food supply chains by fostering collaboration throughout the chain, thereby ensuring that local suppliers continue to receive fair prices. The specific objective of this interview is to gain insights into the collaborations between you and short food supply chain initiatives, and to understand the willingness to share information within these collaborations.

Definition SFSC initiative: SFSC initiatives facilitate direct B2B or B2C delivery of local products through a platform by connecting producers and consumers (Lankauskienė et al., 2022).

Part B: Information sharing in SFSCs

Warm-up questions:

- 1. Could you briefly describe your company and the short food supply chain initiatives you are involved in?
- 2. What is the sales share of these short food supply chain initiatives?
- 3. What do you hope to achieve by participating in the initiative?
- 4. What changes have you had to make in your business operations for it?

Information sharing:

Definition information sharing: "Information sharing means distributing useful information for systems, people or organizational units." (Lotfi et al., 2013, p. 300)

- 5. How do you communicate with the SFSC initiatives? How frequently do you communicate with these initiatives?
- 6. Do you collect specific information for the SFSC initiative and share it with them? What kind of information is this?
- 7. How and to what extent do you share information with the SFSC initiative? (regarding inventory, product, capacity, sustainability, strategy)



Willingness to share information:

Definition willingness to share information: "Willingness to share information with SC partners can be defined as a company's openness to sharing relevant information honestly and frequently and to making strategic and tactical data available to SC partners." (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017, p. 419)

- 8. How willing are you to share information with the SFSC initiative?
- 9. Is there any information that you would like to receive from the SFSC initiatives?

Definition reciprocity: Reciprocity in information sharing context "means that A will be willing to share information so long as B also provides information of the same value in exchange." (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017, p. 421)

- 10. Do you generally feel that the SFSC initiatives treat you fairly?
- 11. Do you believe that the policy of the SFSC initiative regarding their dealings with local suppliers is fair?

Trust:

Definition trust: "Trust is a psychological state comprising the intention to accept vulnerability based upon the positive expectations of the intentions or behaviour of another." (Evans & Revelle, 2008, p. 1585)

- 12. How do the SFSC initiatives handle the data you share with them? Do you feel that when you share data with the SFSC initiative, they fulfil their promises regarding how they manage it?
- 13. How has the SFSC initiative assisted you when you encountered problems?
- 14. Do you think the SFSC initiative considers your well-being as well as their own interests when making decisions?
- 15. Has the SFSC initiative always been trustworthy towards you?
- 16. Do you believe that the services provided by the SFSC initiative are predictable?

Capabilities:

Data Analytical Capabilities:

Definition Data Analytical Capabilities: "Maintaining and developing routines required for using DA to develop business insights that is aligned with business needs and priorities." (Kakhki et al., 2022, p. 541)



- 17. What are the purposes for collecting data and how do you use it (monitoring, analyses, dashboards)?
- 18. Do you ever combine information from multiple sources for your decision-making?
- 19. Do you ever visualise data using tools like dashboards to help customers or partners better understand complex information? Can you explain how these dashboards facilitate the easier use of information for analysis and improvement?
- 20. What systems do you use to maintain this data?
- 21. How is information shared within your organisation, for example, via phones and/or computers?

Management competencies:

Definition management competencies: "A set of motivations, personal, traits, abilities, knowledge and values necessary to improve management performance." (Gamarra et al., 2019, p. 1)

- 22. What risks do you, as a local supplier, foresee? And how do you manage these?
- 23. How do you collaborate with other actors?

Marketing competencies:

Definition marketing competencies: "Help managers understand various customer segments and their requirements and plan to meet the identified needs." (Mageto & Luke, 2020, p. 12)

- 24. What actions do you take in terms of marketing?
- 25. How do you analyse the market and customer desires? How does this provide insights into competition and pricing? How does this lead to new strategies for sales channels?



Interview guide SFSC initiative

Part A: Introduction Name: Role in company: Consent for audio recording:

Objectives: The overarching aim of my research is to enhance the efficiency of the short food supply chains by fostering collaboration throughout the chain, thereby ensuring that local suppliers continue to receive fair prices. The specific objective of this interview is to gain insights into the collaborations between you and short food supply chain initiatives, and to understand the willingness to share information within these collaborations.

Definition SFSC initiative: SFSC initiatives facilitate direct B2B or B2C delivery of local products through a platform by connecting producers and consumers (Lankauskienė et al., 2022).

Part B: Information sharing in SFSCs

Warm-up questions regarding collaboration:

- Could you briefly describe the short food supply chain initiative you are involved with, detail your role within this initiative, and explain how the initiative has evolved over time?
- 2. What have been and continue to be the major obstacles to growth for your short food supply chain initiative?
- 3. How does the process of recruiting local suppliers for your platform work?

Information sharing:

Definition information sharing: "Information sharing means distributing useful information for systems, people or organizational units." (Lotfi et al., 2013, p. 300)

- 4. How and to what extent do local suppliers share information with you? (regarding inventory, product, capacity, sustainability, strategy)
- 5. How do you collect data from the local suppliers?
- 6. Do you collect specific information for the local suppliers and share it with them? What kind of information is this?

Willingness to share information:



Definition willingness to share information: "Willingness to share information with SC partners can be defined as a company's openness to sharing relevant information honestly and frequently and to making strategic and tactical data available to SC partners." (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017, p. 419)

- 7. Is there any information that you would like to receive from the local suppliers?
- 8. How willing are local suppliers to share information with your initiative, and do you notice any variations in their willingness?
- 9. How have you increased the willingness of local suppliers to share information with your initiative?

Definition reciprocity: Reciprocity in information sharing context "means that A will be willing to share information so long as B also provides information of the same value in exchange." (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017, p. 421)

10. How fair do you believe your treatment of local suppliers is?

Trust:

Definition trust: "Trust is a psychological state comprising the intention to accept vulnerability based upon the positive expectations of the intentions or behaviour of another." (Evans & Revelle, 2008, p. 1585)

- 11. How do you assist local suppliers when they encounter problems?
- 12. How do you handle the data that local suppliers share with you?
- 13. How do you consider the well-being of local suppliers when making decisions?
- 14. What are the your policies regarding pricing?
- 15. How much trust do local suppliers have in your initiative, and do you notice any variations in their trust levels? What role does trust play regarding information sharing within your initiative?

Capabilities:

Data Analytical Capabilities:

Definition Data Analytical Capabilities: "Maintaining and developing routines required for using DA to develop business insights that is aligned with business needs and priorities." (Kakhki et al., 2022, p. 541)



- 16. What are the purposes for collecting data and how do you use it (monitoring, analyses, dashboards)?
- 17. What systems do you use to maintain this data?
- 18. How would you describe the data analytical capabilities of local suppliers in your initiative? Do you notice any variations in these capabilities among them? What role does this play in information sharing?
- 19. What kind of support do you offer to enhance these capabilities?

Management competencies:

Definition management competencies: "A set of motivations, personal, traits, abilities, knowledge and values necessary to improve management performance." (Gamarra et al., 2019, p. 1)

- 20. How would you describe the management competencies of local suppliers in your initiative? Do you notice any variations in these competencies among them? What role does this play in information sharing?
- 21. What kind of support do you offer to enhance the competencies?
- 22. How do you collaborate with other short food supply chain initiatives?
- 23. How does your initiative measure the satisfaction of both suppliers and end-users?

Marketing competencies:

Definition marketing competencies: "Help managers understand various customer segments and their requirements and plan to meet the identified needs." (Mageto & Luke, 2020, p. 12)

- 24. How would you describe the marketing competencies of local suppliers in your initiative? Do you notice any variations in these competencies among them? What role does this play in information sharing?
- 25. What kind of support do you offer to enhance the competencies?
- 26. What actions do you take in terms of marketing?
- 27. How do you analyse the market and customer desires? How does this provide insights into competition and pricing? How does this lead to new strategies for sales channels?


Interview guide government agency

Part A: Introduction Name:

Company name:

Consent for audio recording:

Objectives: The overarching aim of my research is to enhance the efficiency of the short food supply chains by fostering collaboration throughout the chain, thereby ensuring that local suppliers continue to receive fair prices. The specific objective of this interview is to gain insights into the collaborations between you and short food supply chain initiatives, and to understand the willingness to share information within these collaborations.

Definition SFSC initiative: SFSC initiatives facilitate direct B2B or B2C delivery of local products through a platform by connecting producers and consumers (Lankauskienė et al., 2022).

Part B: Information sharing in SFSCs

Warm-up questions:

- 1. Could you briefly describe your role in the government agency and the role within the short food supply chains?
- 2. What is your vision for the development of short food chains and short food chain initiatives in the Netherlands?
- 3. What are the main challenges that local suppliers face in short food chain initiatives?

Information sharing:

Definition information sharing: "Information sharing means distributing useful information for systems, people or organizational units." (Lotfi et al., 2013, p. 300)

4. How and to what extent do local suppliers share information with the SFSC initiative? (regarding inventory, product, capacity, sustainability, strategy)

Willingness to share information:

Definition willingness to share information: "Willingness to share information with SC partners can be defined as a company's openness to sharing relevant information honestly and frequently



and to making strategic and tactical data available to SC partners." (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017, p. 419)

- 5. How willing do you believe local suppliers are to share information with short food chain initiatives?
- 6. How could the willingness of local suppliers to share data with short food chain initiatives be increased, and what influence does the government have on this?

Definition reciprocity: Reciprocity in information sharing context "means that A will be willing to share information so long as B also provides information of the same value in exchange." (Zaheer & Trkman, 2017, p. 421)

- 7. Do you generally feel that the SFSC initiatives treat local suppliers fairly?
- 8. Do you believe that the policy of the SFSC initiative regarding their dealings with local suppliers is fair?

Trust:

Definition trust: "Trust is a psychological state comprising the intention to accept vulnerability based upon the positive expectations of the intentions or behaviour of another." (Evans & Revelle, 2008, p. 1585)

- 9. To what extent do you think local suppliers trust the promises and agreements made by short food chain initiatives?
- 10. How do you think the transparency and fairness of short food chain initiatives influence their relationship with local suppliers?
- 11. Do you believe local suppliers experience predictability in the way short food supply chain initiatives support them? And in the way the government supports them?
- 12. How can you increase local suppliers' trust in short food supply chain initiatives?

Capabilities:

Data Analytical Capabilities:

Definition Data Analytical Capabilities: "Maintaining and developing routines required for using DA to develop business insights that is aligned with business needs and priorities." (Kakhki et al., 2022, p. 541)

13. How do you assess the data analytical capabilities of local suppliers?



- 14. How does the government view the role of technology in improving the communication and information processes of local suppliers in relation to short food supply chain initiatives?
- 15. What can the government do to enhance the data analytical capabilities of local suppliers?

Management competencies:

Definition management competencies: "A set of motivations, personal, traits, abilities, knowledge and values necessary to improve management performance." (Gamarra et al., 2019, p. 1)

- 16. How do you assess the management competencies of local suppliers?
- 17. What can you do to enhance the management competencies of local suppliers?

Marketing competencies:

Definition marketing competencies: "Help managers understand various customer segments and their requirements and plan to meet the identified needs." (Mageto & Luke, 2020, p. 12)

- 18. How do you assess the marketing competencies of local suppliers?
- 19. What can you do to enhance the marketing competencies of local suppliers?



Appendix 5: Results ATLAS.ti

This appendix provides an overview of the co-occurrence, code-document, and sentiment analyses used in the study. A co-occurrence analysis is particularly effective for exploring the interplay between constructs and identifying associations, as it allows researchers to examine the strength of the relationship of codes (Stewart, 2024), as shown in Table 13. The strongest co-occurrence with Information Sharing is with Trust (0.58), followed by Willingness to Share Information (0.26), and Capabilities (0.25). Another notable co-occurrence is between Trust and Willingness to Share Information (0.40).

	🛟 Capabilities	🔶 Information Sharing	🛟 Trust	Willingness to Share Information
👶 Capabilities		0,25	0,27	0,20
Information Sharing	0,25		0,58	0,26
🛟 Trust	0,27	0,58		0,40
\diamondsuit Willingness to Share Information	0,20	0,26	0,40	

Table 14 demonstrates the sentiments of all themes; however, nothing new can be concluded as it mirrors the distribution found in the co-occurrence analysis of the themes. Sentiment analysis is a feature in ATLAS.ti that evaluates the emotional tone of text data (Kalpokas, 2024).

Table 14: Co-occurrence analysis ATLAS.ti of the sentiments all themes

	Capabilities: Negative	Capabilities: Positive	Information Sharing: Negative	Information Sharing: Positive	Trust: Negative	Trust: Positive	Willingness to Share Information: Negative	Willingness to Share Information: Positive
Capabilities: Negative		0,06	0,15	0,04	0,20	0,03	0,14	0,03
♦ Capabilities: Positive	0,06		0,08	0,24	0,05	0,26	0,03	0,21
Information Sharing: Negative	0,15	0,08		0,08	0,43	0,09	0,18	0,04
Information Sharing: Positive	0,04	0,24	0,08		0,03	0,57	0,02	0,30
♦ Trust: Negative	0,20	0,05	0,43	0,03		0,07	0,29	0,05
♦ Trust: Positive	0,03	0,26	0,09	0,57	0,07		0,06	0,43
Willingness to Share Information: Negative	0,14	0,03	0,18	0,02	0,29	0,06		0,07
Willingness to Share Information: Positive	0,03	0,21	0,04	0,30	0,05	0,43	0,07	

Table 15 illustrates the distribution of the sentiments for the willingness to share information across the local suppliers, as a code-document analysis. By integrating sentiment analysis with code-document analysis, which compares the sentiments per interviewee, a deeper understanding is gained of the contextual elements in play. Overall, negative mentions of the willingness to share information (54.98%) slightly outweigh positive mentions (45.02%). However, the variation underscores the need to comprehend the conditions under which willingness to share is high or low.



		 Willingness to Share Information: Negative 351 	 Willingness to Share Information: Positive 334 	Totals
2: Transcript interview Local supplier A	3) 111	57,14%	42,86%	100,00%
3: Transcript interview Local supplier B	33 116	48,94%	51,06%	100,00%
4: Transcript interview Local supplier C	03 89	37,50%	62,50%	100,00%
5: Transcript interview Local supplier D	③ 180	72,34%	27,66%	100,00%
6: Transcript interview Local supplier E	③ 107	55,56%	44,44%	100,00%
7: Transcript interview Local supplier F	③ 129	69,57%	30,43%	100,00%
8: Transcript interview Local supplier G	33 114	44,74%	55,26%	100,00%
9: Transcript interview Local supplier H	③ 126	72,09%	27,91%	100,00%
10: Transcript interview Local supplier I	33 211	51,43%	48,57%	100,00%
11: Transcript interview Local supplier J	33 114	48,65%	51,35%	100,00%
12: Transcript interview Local supplier K	③ 157	46,81%	53,19%	100,00%
Totals		54,98%	45,02%	100,00%

Table 15: Code-document analysis with sentiment	analysis Willingness	to Share information
---	----------------------	----------------------

Table 16 represents a code-document analysis, comparing the frequency with which trust is coded as positive or negative in the sentiment analysis across different local suppliers. The results show variability in trust perceptions. For example, Local Supplier F exhibits the highest percentage of negative trust mentions at 66.67%, while Local Supplier C has the highest percentage of positive trust mentions at 65.00%. Overall, positive trust (52.15%) slightly outweighs negative trust (47.85%), but the distribution is far from consistent across suppliers. This indicates that trust is perceived and discussed differently depending on the specific supplier, highlighting the need for tailored approaches to addressing trust issues in SFSC initiatives.

		 Trust: Negative 135 	Trust: Positive (3) 183	Totals
2: Transcript interview Local supplier A	o 111	60,00%	40,00%	100,00%
3: Transcript interview Local supplier B	③ 116	56,25%	43,75%	100,00%
4: Transcript interview Local supplier C	(1) 89	35,00%	65,00%	100,00%
5: Transcript interview Local supplier D	39 180	54,55%	45,45%	100,00%
🖹 6: Transcript interview Local supplier E	39 107	44,44%	55,56%	100,00%
7: Transcript interview Local supplier F	③ 129	66,67%	33,33%	100,00%
8: Transcript interview Local supplier G	3114	36,00%	64,00%	100,00%
9: Transcript interview Local supplier H	③ 126	41,18%	58,82%	100,00%
10: Transcript interview Local supplier I	39 211	42,86%	57,14%	100,00%
11: Transcript interview Local supplier J	3114	45,45%	54,55%	100,00%
12: Transcript interview Local supplier K	③ 157	44,00%	56,00%	100,00%
Totals		47,85%	52,15%	100,00%



Table 17 represents a code-document analysis comparing the frequency with which capabilities are coded as positive or negative in the sentiment analysis across different local suppliers. The results reveal again high variability, in how capabilities are perceived. For instance, Local Supplier D exhibits the highest percentage of negative mentions at 75.00%, indicating significant challenges in their perceived capabilities. In contrast, Local Supplier C and Local Supplier G have the highest percentage of positive mentions, both at 77.78%, reflecting stronger confidence in their abilities. Overall, negative mentions of capabilities (52.17%) slightly outweigh positive mentions (47.83%), indicating a tendency toward identifying challenges or limitations. However, the distribution of perceptions varies considerably between suppliers, highlighting the diverse experiences and self-assessments within the network. This variation underscores the importance of tailored strategies to enhance the capabilities of local suppliers.

		 Capabilities: Negative 84 	 Capabilities: Positive 113 	Totals
2: Transcript interview Local supplier A	③ 111	66,67%	33,33%	100,00%
3: Transcript interview Local supplier B	③ 116	41,67%	58,33%	100,00%
4: Transcript interview Local supplier C	33 89	22,22%	77,78%	100,00%
5: Transcript interview Local supplier D	③ 180	75,00%	25,00%	100,00%
6: Transcript interview Local supplier E	③ 107	63,64%	36,36%	100,00%
7: Transcript interview Local supplier F	33 129	62,50%	37,50%	100,00%
8: Transcript interview Local supplier G	o 114	22,22%	77,78%	100,00%
9: Transcript interview Local supplier H	3 126	66,67%	33,33%	100,00%
10: Transcript interview Local supplier I	o 211	57,14%	42,86%	100,00%
11: Transcript interview Local supplier J	3 114	50,00%	50,00%	100,00%
12: Transcript interview Local supplier K	③ 157	46,15%	53,85%	100,00%
Totals		52,17%	47,83%	100,00%

Table 17: Code-document analysis with sentiment analysis Capabilities



Appendix 6: Theoretical contribution analysis

This appendix discussed the novel contribution to the literature on SFSCs this study makes, by integrating three foundational theories; RBV, SET, and ANT. Despite the growing body of research on SFSCs, a review of existing academic resources in the global database, WorldCat, reveals a notable gap in explicitly linking these theories to SFSC contexts. WorldCat is the most extensive global database containing information on library collections (OCLC, 2024), but while 641 publications on SFSCs were identified, of which 133 were peer-reviewed, none applied RBV, SET, or ANT, see Table 18. This indicates a significant underexploration of theoretical perspectives that could enrich understanding of the mechanisms underlying SFSC operations, relationships, and networks.

Theories	Worldcat library (searching in libraries	All results	Peer-reviewed
	worldwide)		results
	kw:("SFSC") OR kw:("Short Food Supply Chain")	641	133
RBV	(kw:("SFSC") OR kw:("Short Food Supply	0	0
	Chain")) AND (kw:("RBV") OR kw:("Resource-		
	Based View") OR kw:("RBT") OR kw:("Resource-		
	Based Theory"))		
SET	(kw:("SFSC") OR kw:("Short Food Supply	0	0
	Chain")) AND kw:("Social Exchange Theory")		
ANT	(kw:("SFSC") OR kw:("Short Food Supply	0	0
	Chain")) AND (kw:("ANT") OR kw:("Actor-		
	Network Theory"))		

Table 18: Theoretical contribution analysis

By employing these three complementary theoretical frameworks, this study addresses this gap. RBV offers insights into the strategic resource allocation and capabilities required for SFSCs to thrive. SET sheds light on the relational dynamics, trust, and reciprocity critical to collaboration among actors. ANT enables a deeper exploration of how both human and nonhuman entities, such as technology and infrastructure, coalesce to form robust SFSC networks. Together, these theories provide a multidimensional lens to better understand the complexities and nuances of SFSCs, offering a theoretical foundation that has not been previously established in the field.



Appendix 7: CPFR implementation

This appendix provides insights into the key differences between the current supply chain methods and CPFR, in the case from Veelenturf et al. (2001), see Table 19. It helps SFSC practitioners to better understand the objectives and advantages of CPFR. Additionally, the process steps of CPFR detailed in Figure 5 can help comprehend its dynamics, implement CPFR fully, or apply parts of its framework.

Table 19: Key differences between current SC methods and CPFR (in the case from Veelenturf et al., 2001). Source:(Veelenturf et al., 2001)

Current Supply Chain Methods (e.g. CRP)	CPFR
Separate plans for Supplier, Manufacturer and Retailer	 Shared plans developed jointly for Supplier and Manufacturer, Manufacturer and Retailer, and Supplier, Manufacturer and Retailer in a three-way implementation
Order Generation based in history (Shipments, DC level	Order Generation based in forecast, using DC/POS data,
sales, or POS data)	promotion planning and other marketing activities
Reactive -	Proactive
Focused on execution	Focused on planning
Limited to Inventory and Logistics	Includes Inventory, Logistics, Sales, Marketing, Procurement and
point of view	Planning point of view
Goal is to cut company costs –	Goal is trading partners' revenue growth
Related to inventory management	More related to category management
Works on efficient inventory	Works on promotion, product introduction, inventory levels and
replenishment only	replenishment all the way to the shelf effectiveness
Several forecasts for Supplier, Manufacturer and Retailer	Single shared sales forecast based on collaborative process





Figure 5: CPFR process steps. Source: (Veelenturf et al., 2001)